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SGS Laboratory in ShenZhen XiXiang started its official operation on 18th
January, 2012.

Adhering to the concept of globalized technical resources and world-class
service, SGS is the first organization directly stationed in the industrial park.
It provides more flexible, speedy, efficient and professional one-stop
solutions for the enterprises in PRD. The new lab operation symbolizes the
further extension of SGS testing capacity in Southern China, and the

enhancement of high-end service industry radiation and the industry chain REAERE TS
in ShenZhen. Opening ceremony of SGS Laboratory in ShenZhen XiXiang
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

RESULTS

The Group recorded a loss attributable to shareholders of
approximately HK$24 million for the year ended 31st March,
2012 as compared to a profit attributable to shareholders of
approximately HK$25 million recorded last year. Turnover of the
Group for the year ended 31st March, 2012 amounted to
approximately HK$1,360 million, a decrease of 12% compared

with last year.

The incurring of a loss is mainly attributable to (i) a significant
decline in the Group’s sales to the United States and Europe due
to the unfavourable market environment overclouding these two
major economic blocs; (ii) the rising operating costs (in
particular, labor costs) in China and the prevailing high price of
raw materials, which could not be fully passed on to customers
due to intense competition in the printing and packaging
industry; and (iii) an impairment provision on property, plant and
equipment of approximately HK$28 million made by the Group
for the year ended 371st March, 2012 in respect of its eastern

China operation.

The United States remained the Group’s largest market during
the year under review, followed by Europe. As a result of severe
deterioration in the European economy, the Group’s sales to
Europe recorded a decline compared to a growth in the previous
year. Paper products maintained their sales volumes
notwithstanding the sluggish consumer sentiment in most
markets, proving once again that such products are more resilient

during economic downturns.

Despite the unsatisfactory results for the year ended 31st March,
2012, the Board considers that the overall financial position and
operations of the Group remain solid. The Group is implementing
multi-pronged measures to increase its sources of revenue and
improve its performance, details of which are described in the

“Business Review and Prospects” section.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors recommend a final dividend of HK1 cent (2011:
HK1.5 cents) per share for the year ended 31st March, 2012
payable on Wednesday, 19th September, 2012 to shareholders
whose names appear on the Register of Members on Friday, 24th
August, 2012. Together with the interim dividend of HK1 cent
(2011: HK1 cent) paid, the aggregate dividend for the financial
year will be HK2 cents per share (2011: HK2.5 cents).
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Guests visiting Starlite booth
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Starlite displayed the luxury packaging with creativity and innova-
tion. We continued to establish the reputation of Starlite as a
dominating manufacturer in the luxury packaging market. Knowing
more about the true needs of our customers, we could gain more
insights of the luxury packaging industry, and we would be able to
enhance our professionalism and service excellency.
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Customer showing high interest in luxury packaging
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS
Hong Kong/Mainland China Operations

Overview

During the year ended 31st March, 2012, with the United States
economy fluctuating and the European debt crisis escalating,
consumer sentiment in these two major economic blocs were
adversely affected, causing multinational importers and domestic
retailers to reduce purchases and prices for their orders. As a
result, the Group experienced a 12% decline in turnover during

the year, marked by lower sales and pricing.

Moreover, the Group’s profit margins were dealt a further blow
by the rising operating costs in China and the prevailing high
prices of raw materials across the board. In Shenzhen,
Guangzhou, Shaoguan and Suzhou, where the Group’s China
plants are located, the minimum wages have further increased by
double digits during the year under review. Due to labor
shortages, some of the Group’s plants have had to offer higher-
than-minimum wages in order to retain staff and attract new
workers. Other expenses including the cost of raw materials also
increased, largely as a result of the high prices of oil and other
commodities. Due to intense competition in the printing and
packaging industry, the additional costs could not be fully passed
on to customers.

In view of the sustained downturn in the global marketplace
particularly in Europe, the Group is focusing on optimizing the
use of resources and increasing its competitiveness. In this
regard, the Group’s resources will be allocated on a cost-efficient
basis to the following areas: (i) expansion of domestic sales in
China, as well as new business development in market segments
that have reasonable profit margins with less susceptibility to
seasonal factors; (i) extension of lean manufacturing practices
and automation in the Group’s Mainland plants to further reduce
manufacturing costs and increase operating efficiency; (iii) repair
and maintenance of plants and machinery to enhance the
performance of assets; (iv) engagement in original design
manufacturing business by leveraging on the Group’s existing
innovative design capability; and (v) expansion of the Group’s
manufacturing capacity in Malaysia to help reduce costs and

expand sales to the Asia-Pacific. Details of the measures are

described in the sections below.
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Starlite has gained recognition from the industry for its quality products in 2011,we won 3 prizes of “The 23rd Hong Kong Print Awards” - we are proud to announce

that Embellished Desk Calendar 2012 is rewarded “The Champion of Stationery and Office Material Printing” , Embellished Dresses Card is rewarded “The

Champion of Greeting / Invitation Card Printing” , Neuhaus Createur Chocolatier box is rewarded “The Merit Prize of Consumer Product Paper Box” .
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

The management is hopeful that these multi-pronged measures
will enable the Group to increase its sources of revenue and
improve its performance while maintaining a strong financial
position and a prudent cap on capital investment. The
management will continue to explore other means that can better
utilize the Group’s manufacturing network and resources in

China in the long term.

Southern China Operation

Maintaining its position as the largest contributor to the Group's
turnover, the southern China operation experienced a decline in
sales and recorded a loss during the year ended 31st March,
2012. Its printing and packaging business was adversely affected
by major cutbacks from customers on restocking and new
product launches in the wake of worsening consumer sentiment,
while intense competition in the printing and packaging industry
brought down the price of orders. Paper products managed to
show a marginal growth in sales, proving once again that these
products are more sustainable in times of economic downturn.
The Group intends to leverage on its strength in these categories
to increase its market penetration and develop new market

segments.

In view of the rising operating costs in Mainland China, the
southern China operation is taking the lead in deepening the
implementation of lean manufacturing, standardization and
automation policies as well as enhancement and optimization of
operating procedures, in order to minimize the waste of raw
materials and enhance the Group’s overall competitiveness.
Moreover, the Group is actively expanding into the original
design manufacture business and exploring other means to better
utilize the Group’s manufacturing network and resources in
China.

Overall, as the global economic outlook remains highly
uncertain, the southern China division will continue to strictly
control its capital investment and closely monitor its stocks and
customer credits. However, the management is and will also be

carefully monitoring the market and will act swiftly and

forcefully as and when opportunities arise.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

The Group has been putting strong emphasis on research and
development. Apart from participating in the standardization
efforts of printing technology with the state and international
institutes in recent years, the Group’s subsidiary, Starlite Printers
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.,

achievements in the research and development of production

is also applying for patents on 10 major

technology which are pending approval.

In December 2011, Starlite won three prestigious prizes at the
23rd Hong Kong Print Awards. The Group’s Embellished Desk
Calendar 2012 was awarded “Champion of Stationery and Office
Material Printing”, the Embellished Dresses Card “Champion of
Greeting/Invitation Card Printing”, and the Neuhaus Createur
Chocolatier box “Merit Prize of Consumer Product Paper Box”.
Co-organized by the Graphic Arts Association of Hong Kong, the
Hong Kong Print Awards aim to enhance technology
advancement and innovation in printing and publishing
production, foster effective networking within the industry, and
demonstrate the excellent quality of Hong Kong's printed

products.

In January 2012, in a collaborative effort with Starlite, SGS, the
world’s leading inspection, testing, certification and verification
company, opened a laboratory in Xixiang town, Baoan district,
Shenzhen to provide flexible, speedy, efficient and professional
one-stop certification solutions for toy manufacturers and other
enterprises. The Xixiang facility will pioneer a streamlined and
time-saving inspection model to simplify the testing and
certification process to raise the overall competitiveness of
manufacturers and raw material suppliers in Shenzhen and in the

Pearl River Delta.

Eastern China Operation

As a strategic move, the eastern China operation in Suzhou has
been adopting an aggressive pricing strategy to expand the
Group’s domestic sales on the Mainland. This led to a steady
growth in sales at the expense of profit, as the pricing of
products could not fully reflect the much higher operating costs.
Hence, the eastern China operation has recorded an accumulated

loss over the years. An impairment provision on property, plant

and equipment of approximately HK$28 million has been made
by the Group for the year ended 31st March, 2012.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

Notwithstanding this, the eastern China operation has been able
to make improvements during the year. The management will
continue to implement measures to improve the performance of
the eastern China operation. These measures include the better
identification of customer groups that could generate more
positive financial results; the streamlining of workflow; and the
full implementation of lean manufacturing to enhance its overall
operating efficiency. With the economy of the Yangtze River
Delta gaining momentum, the eastern China operation is well
positioned to benefit from the growth and expand the Group's

domestic business in China.

South East Asia Operation

The Group’s Singapore subsidiary, Starlite Printers (Far East) Pte
Ltd, recorded a growth in profit despite a decline in turnover
during the year under review. The positive performance can be
attributed to the effective cost-control measures implemented by
the Singapore subsidiary as well as the increased cost-efficiency
brought by the post-press facility in Malaysia set up by the
Singapore subsidiary in July 2010. Moreover, the Singapore
subsidiary has been able to leverage on its innovative design,
printing and packaging technology rather than to rely on price

cuts.

In February 2012, the Group purchased a new factory in Johor,
Malaysia to be managed by the Singapore subsidiary. Currently
being under renovation, the new factory will install a new
Heidelberg 6-Colour printing press, with a production trial run
expected to take place in November 2012. The management
believes that this expansion plan will enable the Singapore
subsidiary to enjoy cost savings in view of the lower costs in
Malaysia. Moreover, it will enable the Singapore subsidiary to

further increase its capacity and expand its sales to new markets.

In July 2011, the Singapore subsidiary received the Merit Award
of the distinguished 3R Packaging Awards 2011 for its successful
reduction of the use of kraft paper and the development of an
ink-mixing facility that significantly reduces the wastage of ink.
The Singapore subsidiary was also awarded the Gold Award for
having received the Merit Award for two consecutive years. The
3R Packaging Award is an initiative of the Singapore Packaging
Agreement (SPA) to encourage companies to reduce product
packaging through optimizing production processes, redesigning

packaging, and increasing the reuse and recycling of packaging

waste.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

In November 2011, the Singapore subsidiary was awarded the
WorldStar Packaging Award 2011 for the Guinness Plum Blossom
CNY Box and the Rice Dumpling Box produced by it. The
WorldStar competition is organized by the World Packaging
Organization, a non-profit, non-governmental, international
federation of national packaging institutes and associations,
regional packaging federations and other interested parties

including corporations and trade associations.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s sources of funding include cash generated from the
Group’s operations and banking facilities provided to the Group
by banks mainly in Hong Kong and Mainland China. As at 31st
March, 2012, the Group’s cash and bank balances and short-

term bank deposits amounted to approximately HK$210 million.

During the year under review, the interest expense of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$8 million compared to
approximately HK$10 million recorded last year. Currently, the
Group has Renminbi-denominated loan facilities amounting to
approximately RMB45 million that are available for the Group’s
Shenzhen, Guangzhou, Shaoguan and Suzhou plants for working

capital purposes.

As at 31st March, 2012, the Group had a working capital
surplus of approximately HK$129 million compared to a working
capital surplus of approximately HK$163 million as at 31st
March, 2011. The Group’s net gearing ratio as at 31st March,
2012 was 4% (31st March, 2011: 4%), based on short-term and
long-term bank borrowings and bill payables, net of bank
balance and cash of approximately HK$24 million (31st March,
2011: HK$25 million), and shareholders’ funds of approximately
HK$555 million (31st March, 2011: HK$583 million). As at 31st
March, 2012, the Group has breached certain financial covenants
of the loan facilities, management considers the Group has

sufficient funds to meet its operation needs.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31st March, 2012, certain assets of the Group with an
aggregate book carrying value of approximately HK$40 million
(31st March, 2011: HK$51 million) were pledged to secure the

banking facilities of the Group.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

EXCHANGE RATE EXPOSURE

All the Group’s assets, liabilities and transactions are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, US dollars, Chinese
Renminbi, Japanese Yen, Singapore dollars or Euro. The
exchange rate of US dollars/Hong Kong dollars is relatively
stable due to the current peg system in Hong Kong. The
Renminbi-denominated sales revenue helps to set off the Group’s
commitments of Renminbi-denominated operating expenses in
Mainland China, accordingly reducing Renminbi exchange rate
exposure. Transaction values involving Japanese Yen or Euro
were primarily related to the Group’s purchase of machinery and

such exposures were generally hedged by forward contracts.

HUMAN RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT
Currently the Group has more than 8,000 employees. The Group

maintains good relationships with its employees, providing them
with competitive packages, incentive schemes as well as various
training programmes. The Group has maintained a Share Option
Scheme under which share options can be granted to certain
employees (including executive directors of the Company) as
incentive for their contribution to the Group. Following the
opening of the “Starlite Institute of Management”, the Group
provides various training and development programmes to staff
on an ongoing basis. The Group will explore the possibility of
launching other special training programmes with universities in
Mainland China and education institutions abroad to enhance its

staff quality.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to
promoting social enhancement whilst developing its businesses,
through active participation in social welfare and environmental
protection activities to realize its mission. Regardless of where
the Group operates, the Group treats the local communities as

family members and strives to contribute to such communities.

In the past years, the Group has allocated significant resources
to energy conservation and environmental protection, provided
venues and platforms of training and job opportunities for young
people, and actively supported help-poor and schooling
campaigns as well as disaster relief efforts in China. Apart from
providing financial support, the Group also contributes people
and time to various charity drives. In many circumstances, the
Group’s Chairman takes the initiative to organize joint efforts

with other enterprises and friends to pool resources together for

the maximum benefits of those in need.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

During the year under review, the Group and its staff made

financial and other support to the following organizations:

—  Hong Kong Mei Zhou Association, with donation made to

support tree planting in Mei Zhou City

—  Support to an education scheme at City University of

Hong Kong
—  Donation to Shaoguan City for poverty relief
—  The Hong Kong Seagulls Scholarship Scheme

— Donation to the Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese

of Meizhou City for poverty relief

—  Support Scheme to Students in Meixian Nankou Middle
School

LOOKING AHEAD

In a biannual economic update released in May 2012, the World
Bank warned that East Asia, despite maintaining strong growth,
remained vulnerable to the continued uncertainty in Europe
through trade and financial linkages: “The EU, along with the US
and Japan, accounts for over 40 percent of the region’s direct
export shipments and an estimated 60 percent if intraregional
trade linked to production networks is taken into account. A
serious disruption in the EU would also have knock-on effects
on East Asia’s exports and growth by lowering growth in other
regions, particularly Eastern Europe. Moreover, European banks

provide a third of trade and project finance in Asia.”

Confronted by this great uncertainty, the Group is adopting a
prudent approach in its allocation of resources, focusing
primarily on sustaining and enhancing its competitive advantages.
On the other hand, the Group is also making long-term plans to
capture opportunities that are likely to emerge as the world
economy eventually recovers. Such plans include the further
development of domestic sales in China, the expansion into new
markets and product categories, and the transformation of the

Group into a high value manufacturer that provides innovative

products and sophisticated service.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

The management believes that the Group, with its strong
competitive advantages, healthy finance, and prudent
management, will be able to emerge as one of the major
winners as the printing and packaging industry in China goes

through these testing times.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank our shareholders,
customers, bankers, suppliers and friends in the community for
their continued support and all our staff for their loyalty and

dedication.

On behalf of the Board
Lam Kwong Yu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28th June, 2012
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CHAIRMAN'’S LETTER

The fiscal year 2011/2012 saw a drastic downturn in business
following the ephemeral growth in 2010/2011. Traditionally our
major markets, both the United States and Europe saw a
depressing decline as the former fluctuated and the latter
struggled over a glooming debt crisis. Buyer sentiment was mired
in a slump, while sellers were burdened by their capacity
expansion lured by the previous year’s apparent recovery. This
resulted in a serious imbalance between supply and demand,
leading to more intensified competition across the board that
was marked by unhealthy price cuts and insalubrious business

practices.

Under these circumstances, export-oriented manufacturers in
China, especially those in the printing and packaging industry,
experienced a substantial decline in orders. On the other hand,
their operating costs bore an uninterrupted increase in recent
years, due to a strong Yuan that has been appreciating against
the United States Dollar and the Euro by more than 3%
annually; high inflation at over 5% levels; and an increase of
nearly 20% in labour costs. As a result, the gross profit margins
shrank significantly. Moreover, the reduction in orders led to
cuts in working hours and unsteady income, causing a decrease
in workers’ loyalty and an increase in turnover, which in turn
led to regular needs for new recruits and a reduction in
productivity. Such chain effect posed severe challenges to the
survival and growth of enterprises. In the face of such
challenges, and taking into account the significant impact of the
impairment provision for the sustained loss of the Suzhou
operation, the Group recorded a loss in the fiscal year
2011/2012.

Notwithstanding the stormy market conditions, the Group
remains dedicated to earnest professionalism and improvement.
Building on the lean management system implemented in recent
years, the Group has taken further steps to streamline its
operations, reduce redundancy, improve its workflow, and
enhance staff welfare, with favourable initial results achieved.
Moreover, the Group has steered its operations towards further
automation and innovation on a solid and high-level base, with

the hope of achieving new progress in the coming fiscal year to

bring solutions to the labour constraints.
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CHAIRMAN'’S LETTER

A notable result arising from the shrunk marketplace in
2011/2012 was a move by major brands to consolidate their
orders to a smaller number of suppliers. This was partly
attributable to the diversity of suppliers in the printing and
packaging industry, which make it difficult for the brands to
manage in a cost-efficient way and with a strong say in times of
uncertainty. Becoming increasingly popular among United States
and European importers, consolidated purchasing programmes
are causing a major reshuffle in the printing and packaging
industry, which provides a positive backdrop for the Group’s
business in 2012/2013.

Without doubt, 2011/2012 has been an extremely difficult year.
But while it brought unprecedented test to our survival, it also
accelerated our transformation. With the establishment of our
new Product Design Centre and Equipment Development Centre,
Starlite has increased its competitive advantages by expanding its
product categories. This together with the adoption of stronger
sales initiatives and marketing strategies and the use of new
automated facilities will enable the Group to meet its targets set
earlier the year. | deeply believe that with the concerted efforts
of all Starlite people, the Group will be able to get in better
shape and record more favourable results in 2012/2013.

On behalf of the Board
Lam Kwong Yu

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28th June, 2012
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS

Revenue
Operating (loss)/profit

(Loss)/profit for the year
attributable to the
equity holders of the
Company

Dividends

Basic (losses)/earnings
per share attributable

to the equity holders

of the Company
(HK cents)

KA
e (sE) a8l

FARRA
BEFEA
FE1E (J51R)

)
B
AR A
SEPN TET

HEA (B8R
&7 B

MBRE

mEWER

Year ended 31st March,
BE=ZA=+—-HLEFE

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
—EB--fF 2% Z—ZT-FTF —TTNF —TITNF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET THET THET TAET
1,359,676 1,545,238 1,182,639 1,303,404 1,170,617
(12,644) 46,447 54,227 85,768 72,417
(24,125) 25,060 41,212 59,598 44,114
10,502 13,128 13,081 12,909 14,187
4.59) 4.78 7.92 11.92 10.27
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22 FINANCIAL SUMMARY BERE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL SEHBRRE
POSITION
As at As at As at As at As at
31st March, 31st March, 31st March, 1st April 31st March,
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
R-ZBE—=-F RN —F RZZT—ZTF RZZTETNhF RZZTEZENF
=HA=+—-H =ZA=+—H ZA=1+—H MA—H =ZA=+—8H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHT FHET FHT
Non-current assets EREBEE 465,965 478,261 491,302 512,257 515,930
Current assets mENEE 548,051 589,370 544,432 407,263 488,061
Current liabilities mEIAaE (418,919) (425,990) (426,698) (332,935) (449,960)
Net current assets mEEE TR 129,132 163,380 117,734 74,328 38,101
Total assets less current 484 & R R &
liabilities aE 595,097 641,641 609,036 586,585 554,031
Non-current liabilities EREBERE (39,948) (58,524) (64,268) (84,700) (120,872)
Net assets & EFE 555,149 583,117 544,768 501,885 433,159

Shareholders’ equity MR 2 555,149 583,117 544,768 501,885 433,159




REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors have the pleasure of presenting their annual report
together with the audited financial statements of Starlite Holdings
Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) for
the year ended 31st March, 2012.

Principal activities

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the printing and manufacturing of
packaging materials, labels and paper products, including

environmental friendly paper products.

Details of the Group’s revenue and segment results are set out in

Note 5 to the accompanying financial statements.

Major customers and suppliers

For the year ended 31st March, 2012, the five largest customers
accounted for approximately 33% of the Group’s total revenue
and the five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 25%
of the Group’s total purchases. In addition, the largest customer
accounted for approximately 11% of the Group’s revenue while
the largest supplier accounted for approximately 13% of the

Group's total purchases.

None of the directors, their associates, or any shareholder (which,
to the knowledge of the Company’s Directors, owned more than
5% of the Company’s share capital) had a beneficial interest in

the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

Results and appropriations
Details of the Group’s results for the year ended 31st March,
2012 are set out in the consolidated income statement on page

52 of this annual report.
The Directors have declared an interim dividend of HK$0.01 per
ordinary share, totalling approximately HK$5,251,000, which was

paid on 22nd February, 2012.

The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of

HKT cent per ordinary share, totalling approximately
HK$5,251,000, and recommend that the Group’s retained profits
of approximately 293,079,000 be carried forward.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Share capital and employee share options
Details of movements in share capital and the employee share
option scheme of the Company are set out in Notes 26 and 27,

respectively, to the accompanying financial statements.

Reserves
Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in Note 28 to the accompanying financial

statements.

As at 31st March, 2012, the Company’s retained profit of
approximately HK$16,365,000 was available for distribution to
the Company’s shareholders, of which approximately
HK$5,251,000 has been proposed as the final dividend for the

year.

Purchase, sale or redemption of shares

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed shares during the year
ended 31st March, 2012.

Pre-emptive rights
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s

Bye-laws and the laws in Bermuda.

Subsidiaries
Particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 17 to the

accompanying financial statements.

Property, plant and equipment
Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during

the year are set out in Note 16 to the accompanying financial

statements.

Bank loans
Particulars of bank loans as at 31st March, 2012 are set out in

Notes 23 and 32 to the accompanying financial statements.

Pension schemes
Details of the pension schemes are set out in Note 9 to the

accompanying financial statements.

Charitable contributions
During the vyear, the Group made charitable contributions of
approximately HK$433,000 (2011: HK$730,000).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Directors and directors’ service contracts
The directors who held office during the year and up to the date

of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu, Chairman

Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus, Senior Vice President

Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles, Senior Vice President

Non-Executive Director

Ms. Yeung Chui

(Re-designated as non-executive director with effect from
1st September, 2011)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael

Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 88s, Jp

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny

In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company, all of the
directors will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting

and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

None of the directors has an unexpired contract with the Group
which is not terminable by the Group within one year without

payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Independent Non-Executive Directors’ confirmation of
independence

The Company has received independence confirmation from
each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr.
Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 88s, jp
and Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny pursuant to rule 3.13 of the

Listing Rules, and considers them to be independent.

EZERE

EERESRBEN
RAFEREEAFRTNERZETESER:

BITES

M mszeE (EE)
WAHBEL (BRAEE)
REKREE(BREEEH)

FHITES
HBBRLL
(R-ZZE——FNA-—HERABARIRNTES)

BIYFBTES
BR#S  St &
SRHKEE, BBS, & Fa+
EHIESLAE

BEARAZARN SEZ20EREERRBSF
RERE HEEREML-

AEBTEALERTIIAN - FABEMHECOR
ERMERINMAEILEZREREL -

BYUFBTESZBIMBRIARN

ARRCEERBIIIFPITES  NRBALLE
BIRE, sos, 4 Fart RAERRESLERE EHARRIE313
BRELNBIEER LM ARFIRBEFTAR
WL e

25




26

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Directors’ interests in shares and share options

As at 31st March, 2012, the interest of the Directors and Chief
Executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”)) which were required to be notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required, pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as

follows:

EZERE

EERRORBREZES
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Long positions in Shares KRB zZEFR
Personal Family Corporate Approximate %  Outstanding
Name of Director Capacity interests interests interests Total  of Shareholding share options
HREZHLH 8 R AT 2
BEEng L BAER ES:3 34 ARER 2y BA ZBRE
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu Beneficial owner and BEBEER 189,149,477 21,784,000 — 210,933,477 40.17% —
wrmEE interest of spouse BBER
Ms. Yeung Chui Beneficial owner and BRBER 92,843,200 — 1,012,901 93,856,101 17.87% —
BRLt interest of controlled TN E 2 ER (Note 1)
corporation (FitE1)
Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus Beneficial owner and BEREER — 18,000 — 18,000 0.003% 3,200,000
BHELE interest of spouse EBH#E
Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles Beneficial owner BiEE 300,000 — 300,000 0.06% 4,200,000
Details of share options granted to Directors are separately disclosed under the BYTEEEBREZFABRAERESIm A -
heading of Share Option Scheme.
Note: Bt 3% -
1. Dayspring Enterprises Limited held 1,012,901 shares in the Company. The 1. BECEERARNFEARADF02,901BH  ZARZE

entire issued share capital of the company is beneficially owned and
controlled by Ms. Yeung Chui.

MEBTRALAGRLTERER RIEH -




REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or Chief
Executive of the Company had, as at 31st March, 2012, any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Share option scheme

A new share option scheme has been adopted by the Company
since 6th September, 2002 (the “New Share Option Scheme”) to
replace a share option scheme which had been adopted on 8th
February, 1993 (the “Old Share Option Scheme”) to comply with
the current statutory requirements. The Company may grant
options to the participants as set out in the New Share Option

Scheme.

Pursuant to the Special General Meeting of shareholders of the
Company held on 15th May, 2008, the Scheme Mandate Limit
under the New Share Option Scheme has been refreshed. The
Scheme Mandate Limit has been re-set at 10% of the shares in
issue as at the date the limit was “refreshed”. On the basis of
430,295,989 shares in issue on date of refreshment, the limit
was re-set at 43,029,598 shares.

Summary of the New Share Option Scheme was as follows:

1. Purpose of the New Share Option
Scheme
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To provide participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests
in the Company and to encourage participants to work towards enhancing

the value of the Company and its shares.
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2. Participants of the New Share Option
Scheme

(i) Any full-time employee of the Company or of any subsidiary; and

(i) Any full-time executive director of the Company or of any subsidiary.

MR BN 2R AL

(i) AABHEMBARZZRES &

(i) RABHEMBAR 22 BPTES -
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3. Total number of shares available for

issue under the New Share Option
Scheme and percentage of issued share
capital as at the date of the annual
report

R R AR R B AT BT R BRI
RERBMESHETREABOL

4. Maximum entitlement of each participant

under the New Share Option Scheme

=3
#
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=

5. The period within which the shares must

be taken up under an option

AR 9% 8 A R 7R AR s A B0 A IR

6. The minimum period for which an

option must be held before it can be
exercised

AT A BB REHIR

EZERE

The Company may initially grant options representing 41,250,098 shares
under the New Share Option Scheme (i.e. approximately 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of the approval of the New
Share Option Scheme).

The 10% Scheme Mandate Limit has been refreshed pursuant to the Special
General Meeting held on 15th May, 2008. On the basis of 430,295,989
shares in issue on date of approval of refreshment of the Scheme Mandate
Limit, the limit was re-set at 43,029,598 shares representing approximately
8.19% of the issued share capital of the Company as at date of the annual
report.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the New Share
Option Scheme and any other schemes adopted by the Company must not
exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time. No options may be
granted under the New Share Option Scheme or any other share option
scheme if that will result in the 30% limit being exceeded.

BB RS E - AR E) YA % T 41,250,0980% A% 15 (15 25 A 7)
PR ERETE B RHTRANI0%) 2 BB HE -

RZEENFRA+TRBBHNBRERR RS E%E@Z+m%ﬂﬁ
EPREE AL EE AT R EREE B B BT 10430,295,989% 5T &
MR EE 5] 7F 443,029,598 RN A RN AFMABA 2B &7 sz'%ﬁ
8.19% °

R I R ER A 2 3 B8 AR 51 8 R A R E Al 5 IR T i R R AT 2 AR
HETEBRMAUBETZENERZBEETSBEETRHERTRO Z
30% ° AR B BT E R TR R ES §HBIB30% LR A TR T
B E -

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted and to be granted to each participant (including both
exercised and outstanding options) under the New Share Option Scheme or
any other share option scheme adopted by the Company in any 12 month
period must not exceed 1% of the shares in issue.

BEFNEREFESUARARR ZEMNEMBERETS  EEW+ @A
HEA ABNS2EALIETERBEMECTEERERECTFERHR
TEZERE)EETREFHOTZENDEE T EBBERITRMEKE
Z1% ©

Must not be more than 10 years from the date of offer or grant of the
option.

BERERERTZAREF T SBEBETF -

An option may be exercised at any time during a period commencing on
the expiry of 6 calendar months after the date of grant of the option, but
in any event not later than 10 years from the date of grant.

BRETAHRTEBREZE ARG NEZEAREMAERETE  ETSE
BZBRERH BT F S
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7. The amount payable on application or  The amount payable on acceptance of an option is HK$10 and an offer
acceptance of the option and the period  shall remain open for acceptance by the participant for a period of 28
within which payments or calls must or  days from the date on which the letter containing the offer is delivered to
may be made or loans for such purposes  that participant.
must be paid

EMBERERMAXNZRER/BBIOT - MBEALTARKEZHKE
REREMABRENENSEARNR ST N\BHRRZERERE-
FBANRKOBRKEERFRELER
A EIR

8. The basis of determining the exercise The exercise price shall be determined by the Board in its absolute
price discretion and shall be at least the highest of:

AT B (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet
issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a
business day; or

(i) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the daily
quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the 5 business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; or

(iiiy ~ the nominal value of the shares on the date of grant.

BREZTEEREZSET BRI UTIFERERE:

i BOHOREEETERESH(RREEA)BMIATHRBRAG
ZWHE K

(i) BONREREEETHERECHINAMEZZAEBRZAE B RE
RN ZFHRTE K

(i) RETEREEANROEE-

9. The remaining life of the New Share The New Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
Option Scheme ten years commencing on the adoption date i.e. 6th September, 2002.

R R AT B B T R B IR MERESESARARE (I -T2 _FAARE)B+FR—EERRBR -
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The following table shows the movements in the Company’s AR GERERERNZEHNRNENREREHKRIT
share options during the year and the outstanding options at the — {# Z BERR#E20 FN R FTR
beginning and end of the year:
Share option scheme BRETE
Number of shares
RHEE
Exercise Exercised Lapsed
Date of Exercise price per Beginning during the during the End of
Name grant period share of year year year year
gR
HA R AH TREHE TREE FH FARATE FREX FH
HK$ 000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000
BT TR T TR T
(i) Directors
=
Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus 21.7.2008 21.1.2009- 0.385 3,200 — — 3,200
HMAEERE (Note 1) 20.1.2013
(B ET)
Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, 21.7.2008 21.1.2009- 0.385 4,200 — — 4,200
Charles (Note 1) 20.1.2013
RAEK L (B =ET)
Mr. Lim Pheck Wan, 21.7.2008 21.1.2009- 0.385 3,200 — (3,200) —
Richard* (Note 1) 20.1.2013
AR A BE 5 A (B=ET)
(ii) Employees 21.7.2008 21.1.2009- 0.385 12,420 — (300) 12,120
B8 (Note 2) 20.1.2013
(Pt &E2)
23,020 — (3,500) 19,520
*  Resigned as director of the Company with effect from 1st April, 2011. * R — N — GBI ARGEE -
Notes: FfE
1. The vesting of share options is subject to certain performance targets that 1. EENEENETRBEEA S AEBENEB -ESNE
must be achieved by the directors. The share options shall be exercised by TEBER - —F— B -+ BT SERE-
the directors not later than 20th January, 2013.
2. The vesting of certain share options is subject to certain performance targets 2. ETREENEENETRBEESIFAERENER -ES
that must be achieved by the employees. The share options shall be exercised WERBR T ——F— A+ AT EZSERE-
by the employees not later than 20th January, 2013.
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The Company had used Trinomial Option Pricing Model to
determine the fair value of certain options granted as at the date
of grant, details of which are set out in Note 27 to the financial

statements.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable any of the Company’s directors or members of its
management to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body

corporate.

Directors’ interests in contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 33 to the accompanying financial
statements, no contract of significance in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
holding companies was a party and in which any of the
Company’s directors or members of its management had a

material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the

end of the year or at any time during the year.

EZERE

ARBEHRA=ZAANREERAEE TRERE
BEREANEHERZATE FRENPHERRME
27 e

BEMREESN  RERNEMER ARFREE
AMEARBE2EEARYE SRARAESER
HERBEXRBREEBARRASEMEMEAREZ
Bt sk (B M o

EERaNRZRE

PR BEM 2 B IS MR M S BEE SN AR B HE
M8 AR N FERRFERNERERE - L EETH EAR
AEEEBAHEMARRAEFREEERBEEEXL
MEHEFEPEANGELERAN -
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Substantial shareholders

So far as is known to any Director or Chief Executive of the
Company, as at 31st March, 2012, shareholders (other than
Directors or Chief Executive of the Company) who had interest
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by

the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions of substantial shareholder in the shares of the

Company

Name of shareholder Capacity
RERER g7

Ms. Yuen Lai Ping

REMLL EmfE R BiER
Note:
1. Ms. Yuen Lai Ping is the spouse of Mr. Lam Kwong Yu, she is deemed to be

interest in the shares held by Mr. Lam Kwong Yu. The 210,933,477 shares
including personal interest of 21,784,000 shares and interest of spouse for
189,149,477 shares. The shares held by Mr. Lam Kwong Yu and Ms. Yuen Lai
Ping were the same block of shares.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is composed of all the three Independent
Non-Executive Directors of the Company. The Audit Committee
has reviewed with management the accounting principles and
practice adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, internal
control, and financial reporting matters, including the review of

financial statements for the year ended 31st March, 2012.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was set up with the responsibility
of recommending to the Board the remuneration policy of all the
Directors and the senior management. The Remuneration

Committee composed of all the three Independent Non-Executive

Directors of the Company.

Beneficial owner and interest of spouse

EZERE

FERR

RARAEFHAERTRABRA RZT—=F
ZA=+—8 RARBERMHIABBEROFEEFIR
BEHRBEGIEXVEE2RE3D B IE AR
AARBEERTLHRARAIREF KPEKDH
BOKRETHNELMANERIAR ZRE (KR A
EEZYRSTHRABRINGT

N

—
S

"

0|

FERFRARZGIRGZIFE
Number of Approximate %
Shares of Shareholding
HREZBN
BROHE Aot
210,933,477 40.17%
(Note 1)
(M &E 1)
B 3 ¢
1. RESLZTAMAMEEZEB  wHEEEEHRLNEE
BAHERKRMD IS o £ i210,933,4770% £ 4521,784,000 % & {&
AHE % [2189,149,477 IRV EL B HE a5 » MR EERRBIF X
ITHAENRMEER —ROED -
EREEY

RABZBREZBEBARRZMA =B IR
TEFHEK - AEBZERZEGDHERERZ
AEBEAZEFEANRER  KEFNET A
ERELMBREER REERLEHE T —=
FZA=+—BZEEHBRE-

FMEES
FHEZEenNRBRERNESCERMBEENAR
EREZHERR FMEBESHMARRRAZHME=
(B FEITE R ©
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on Tst September,
2011 which is currently composed of the Chairman of the Board,
one Non-Executive Director and the three Independent Non-
Executive Directors of the Company. The principal duties of the
Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure, size and
composition of the Board on a regular basis and making

recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed changes.

Financial summary
A summary of the Group’s financial information for the last five
financial years is set out on pages 21 and 22 of this annual

report.

Directors’ interests in competing business

During the year ended 31st March, 2012, none of the Directors
nor their respective associates had any interests in a business
which competes or may compete with the businesses of the

Company.

Sufficiency of public float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its Directors, the
Directors confirm that the Company has maintained during the
year under review the amount of public float as required under

the Listing Rules.

Corporate governance
A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted
by the Company is set out on pages 34 to 45 of the annual

report.

Auditor

The accompanying financial statements were audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers. A resolution for appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers as the Company’s auditors for the
ensuring vyear, is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual

general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Lam Kwong Yu

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28th June, 2012

EZERE

REZE®
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
Starlite Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries

(together the “Group”) are committed to maintaining and
upholding good corporate governance in order to protect the
interests of shareholders and other stakeholders. The Company
strives at ensuring high standards of corporate governance in the
interests of shareholders and takes care to identify practices
designed to achieve effective oversight, transparency and ethical

behavior.

Throughout the year ended 31st March, 2012, the Company has
complied with the Code on Corporate Governance Practice (the
“Code”) as set out in the then Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), except for the

deviations as mentioned below.

This report includes information relating to corporate governance
practices of the Company during the year ended 31st March,
2012 and significant events after that date and up to the date of
this report.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities

Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules for securities
transactions by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard of dealings and
code of conduct regarding securities dealings by directors as set
out in the Model Code for the year ended 31st March, 2012

with the following exception.

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu was married in April of 2011 and was not,
at the relevant times, aware that his spouse had held shares of
the Company until subsequently (see below), and that, during
several occasions from April to June of 2011 after their marriage,
his spouse had further acquired 840,000 shares of the Company
without obtaining the prior approval of the Company’s chairman.
Certain of the said acquisitions occurred during a black-out
period of the Company, but neither Mr. Lam Kwong Yu nor his
spouse was in possession of any price sensitive information
during the relevant times of the acquisitions. Mr. Lam Kwong Yu
only became aware of his spouse’s ownership and acquisitions
of the shares in July of 2011 and upon which, he had then
promptly notified and reported the same, first to the Company
and then, to the Stock Exchange. Mr. Lam Kwong Yu had also

since then advised his spouse as to his obligations under the

Model Code and applicable laws.

EARAME
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board

The Board is at the core of the Company’s corporate governance
framework, and there is clear division of responsibilities between
the Board and the Management. The Board is responsible for
providing high-level guidance and effective oversight of the

Management. Generally, the Board is responsible for:

o formulating the Group’s long-term strategy and monitoring

the implementation thereof;

J reviewing and approving the annual business plan and

financial budget;

. approving the annual and interim reports;

J reviewing and monitoring risk management and internal
control;

o ensuring good corporate governance and compliance; and

o monitoring the performance of the Management.

The Board currently has seven members, comprising three
Executive Directors, one Non-Executive Director and three
Independent Non-Executive Directors. Independent non-executive
directors represented more than one-third of the Board members,
thus exhibiting a strong independent element which enhanced
independent judgement. Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny, an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company is a
practicing CPA in Hong Kong and possesses appropriate
professional qualifications and financial management expertise as
required under the Listing Rules. A list containing the names,
roles and functions of Directors is published on the websites of
the Group and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (the
“HKEX").

The Board is scheduled to meet at least four times a year to

determine overall strategic direction and objectives and approve

interim and annual results and other significant matters.
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During the year ended 31st March, 2012, four full Board
meetings and an annual general meeting (“AGM”) were held
with an average attendance rate of 100% and approximately

57% respectively, details of which are presented below:

¥ER

] &

HE-_ZT——F=—A=+—HLEFEA AQa#
TEAEEEEge AL AREEFRE (KRR
BERE])  FHEEED R A100% K 457%  5F
BE25WT :

Meetings
Board Members Attended/Held 2011 AGM
—E-—F

EsgRE HE BT RRBFAE
Executive Directors BTES
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu (Chairman of the Board) MAWMEE(BEFLTE) 4/4 v
Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus HAAE kL 4/4 V
Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles RAEMK A 4/4 v
Non-Executive Director FHTES
Ms. Yeung Chui HRLL

(Re-designated as Non-Executive Director (W—ZZE——FhHA—H

with effect from 1st September, 2011) EABRIENTES) 4/4 —
Independent Non-Executive Directors BAKHITES
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael BR#8 o 5 4 4/4 v
Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 88s, /P SBHKE, BBS, A Fa+ 4/4 —
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny EMBIESE 4/4 —

Yearly meeting schedule is discussed and approved by the Board
at the beginning of the year. Board agenda is approved by the
Chairman following consultation with other Board members.
Board agenda and meeting materials are dispatched to all Board

members in a timely manner.

All Directors have access to the Company Secretary who is
responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are complied with
and advises the Board on corporate governance and compliance
matters. They are also encouraged to take independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense in performance of
their duties, if necessary. Furthermore, all the Directors are

covered by the Directors’ & Officers’ Liability Insurance, which

is also part of our best practices.

2FEERRHNTHECHEFSRNFUEN RiE

BRERZRATHESFIAANABASTEFTENE
ERE KIEBRABT -MESSMHERGH
ARELFXELBETENERM -

PMEEEPABKARNE MARNENEER
REZENARFENCEBEARZREERNES
EREBER -ARAEBAAEENEZTEZNER
THABIEXEALINER UETHERE AH
ERRBARAXN I FAEESTHESEER
TBRABBEERBRRE FHELHENBRALER
EEMR w0




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code Provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. The Company does not have
a separate Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Mr. Lam
Kwong Yu currently holds both positions. The Board believes
that vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer in the same person would allow the Company to be
more effective and efficient in developing long-term business
strategies and execution of business plans. The Board believes
that the balance of power and authority is adequately ensured
by the operation of the Board which comprises experienced and
high caliber individuals with a sufficient number thereof being

Independent Non-Executive Directors.

Non-Executive Director
Ms. Yeung Chui was re-designated from the position of Executive
Director to Non-Executive Director upon her retirement from the

Company with effect from 1st September, 2011.

Independent Non-Executive Directors
The roles of the Independent Non-Executive Directors include

the following:

J provision of independent judgement at the Board
meetings;

o take the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

. serve on committees if invited; and

o scrutinize the performance of the Group as necessary.

The Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company and
their immediate family receive no payment from the Company or
its subsidiaries (except the Director fee). No family member of
any Independent Non-Executive Directors is employed as an
executive officer of the Company or its subsidiaries, or has been
so in the past three years. The Independent Non-Executive
Directors are subject to retirement and re-election at the annual
general meeting in accordance with the Bye-laws of the
Company. Each Independent Non-Executive Director has

provided a confirmation of his independence with reference to

the independence guidelines as set out in the Listing Rules.
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The Board has assessed the independence of all the Independent
Non-Executive Directors of the Company and considers all of
them to be independent having regard to (i) their annual
confirmation on independence as required under the Listing
Rules, (ii) the absence of involvement in the daily management
of the Company and (iii) the absence of any relationships or
circumstances which would interfere with the exercise of their

independent judgement.

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, who is going to retire at the
2012 AGM of the Company, has served as an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company for more than 9 years. In
addition to his confirmation of independence in accordance with
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Chan continues to
demonstrate the attributes of an independent non-executive
director and there is no evidence that his tenure has had any
impact on his independence. The Directors are of the opinion
that Mr. Chan remains independent notwithstanding the length of
his service and believe that his valuable knowledge and
experience continue to generate significant contribution to the

Company and the shareholders as a whole.

Appointments, re-election and removal

There is a formal and transparent procedure for the appointment
of new directors to the Board, the primary responsibility of
which has been delegated to the Nomination Committee. The
structure, size and composition of the Board will be reviewed
from time to time by the Nomination Committee to ensure that
the Board has a balanced skill and expertise for providing

effective leadership to the Company.

In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company, all directors
are subject to retirement at each AGM. The retiring directors
shall be eligible for re-election. New appointments either to fill
a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board are subject to
re-election by shareholders of the Company at the next following
AGM.

Code Provision A.4.1 stipulates that Non-Executive Directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
The Non-Executive Directors of the Company have not been
appointed for a specific term as they are subject to retirement

and re-election at AGM in accordance with the Bye-laws of the

Company.
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Responsibilities of Directors

Upon acceptance of appointment, a new Director is provided
with sufficient orientation package, including introduction to
Group activities (when necessary), induction into their
responsibilities and duties, and other regulatory requirements, to
ensure that he has a proper understanding of the business and

his responsibilities as a Director of the Company.

The Company is aware of the requirement to regularly review
and agrees with each director their training needs. The
continuing professional training program of the Company for
directors will be reviewed on an ongoing basis by the

Nomination Committee.

All' Directors are committed to devote sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Group. Directors are given
guideline on their time commitments to the affairs of the
Company. Directors have also disclosed to the Company the
number and nature of offices held in Hong Kong or overseas
listed public companies or organizations and other significant
commitments, with the identity of the public companies or
organizations. Directors are reminded to notify the Company in

a timely manner of any changes of such information.

Supply of and access to information

To allow the Directors to make an informed decision and
properly discharge their duties and responsibilities, the Company
Secretary ensures that relevant Board papers are sent to all the
Directors in a timely manner. All Board papers and minutes are

also made available for inspection by the Board and its

Committees.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Board Committees

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has preserved
three board committees (“Board Committees”) with defined terms
of reference (which are posted on website of the Group and the
HKEX.), namely Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee

and Audit Committee.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was set up with the responsibility
of recommending to the Board the remuneration policy and
package of all the Directors and senior management, assessing
performance of executive directors and senior management,
review and approving annual performance bonus and approving
the terms of service contracts of executive directors and senior

management.

The Committee Chairman is required to report to the Board on
its proceedings after each meeting on all matters within its duties

and responsibilities.

A meeting of the Remuneration Committee is required to be held
at least once a year to coincide with key dates within the
financial reporting and audit cycle. During the year ended 31st
March, 2012, five meetings were held, attendance of the
meetings held by the Remuneration Committee is set out below:

Remuneration Committee Members Meetings Attended/Held

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael (Chairman) 5/5
Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 85s, /P 5/5
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny 5/5

The Remuneration Committee is authorised to investigate any
matter within its Terms of Reference and seek any information it
requires from any employee and obtain outside legal or other
independent professional advice at the cost of the Company if it

considers necessary. The Remuneration Committee has reviewed

the compensation of the Directors and senior executives for
2012.
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During the year ended 31st March, 2012, total Directors’
remuneration amounted to approximately HK$9,399,000 (2011:
HK$12,263,000), individual details of which are disclosed in
Note 10 to the financial statements. Executive Directors and
senior management’s compensation including the long-term
incentive shall be based on the corporate and individual

performance.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 1st September,
2011 which comprises three Independent Non-Executive
Directors, one Non-Executive Director and Chairman of the
Board. Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, Bss, jp is Chairman of the
Nomination Committee, with Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, Mr.
Tam King Ching, Kenny, Ms. Yeung Chui and Mr. Lam Kwong

Yu as members.

The Nomination Committee is to assist the Board in overseeing
Board organization and senior management succession planning,
assessing the independence of non-executive directors, review of

the structure, size and composition of the Board.

The first Nomination Committee meeting held on 28th June,
2012.

Corporate Governance Function

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s corporate
governance compliance. The Company has not established a
Corporate  Governance Committee, the Board proposes to
delegate the function to a senior management committee to

perform the corporate governance function.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial reporting

The Board is responsible for the preparation of financial
statements for each financial period which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and
cash flow for that period. In preparing the financial statements
for the year ended 31st March, 2012, the Directors have selected
suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently;
adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and Hong Kong Accounting Standards; made adjustments and
estimates that are prudent and reasonable; and have prepared
the financial statements on the going concern basis. The
Directors are also responsible for keeping proper accounting

records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the

financial position of the Company.
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The new requirements under Corporate Governance Code and
Rule Amendments came into effect on 1st April, 2012. The
Company is obliged to provide monthly updates to the Board to
assess the Group’s financial performance, position and prospects
in sufficient details to enable the Board members to discharge

their duties under the Listing Rules.

Internal controls

The Board has delegated to management the responsibility to
develop and maintain a sound internal control system. The
internal control system, operating through a framework of
management and operational controls, and risk management
systems, is intended to allow the Board to monitor the Group’s
business performance and financial positions, to control and
adjust risk exposures, to adopt sound business practices, to
obtain reasonable assurance on controls against fraud and errors,
to ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and
to provide oversight and guidance to management in achieving

the Company’s objectives.

The key procedures that the Group has established to maintain

an effective internal control system are as follows:

o A clear management organisational structure is set up
with well-defined lines of authority, accountability and

responsibilities.

o Regular reporting of the performance of the Company’s
businesses to senior management. The Board reviews the
Group’s business and financial performance on a

quarterly basis.

o The internal audit consultant shall independently evaluate
the adequacy and effectiveness of key controls including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions. The internal audit function reports

major findings and recommendations, if any, to the Audit

Committee on a quarterly basis.
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Assessment of internal control system

The Board has assessed the effectiveness of internal control
system by considering reviews performed by the Audit Committee
and management, and the findings of both internal and external
auditors. In undertaking this assessment, the Board also engaged
an independent risk consulting firm to assist in the execution of

internal audit plan throughout the year ended 31st March, 2012.

The Board has annually reviewed and considered the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and the Group’s

training programmes and budgets.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises all the three Independent Non-

Executive Directors of the Company.

Under its terms of reference, the Audit Committee is required to
oversee the relationship between the Company and its external
auditors, review with management the accounting principles and
practice adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, internal
control and financial reporting matters, including the review of

financial statements for the year ended 31st March, 2012.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the annual and interim
results of 2012 and was content that the accounting policies of
the Group are in accordance with the generally accepted
accounting practices in Hong Kong. It also meets twice a year
with the Group’s external auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers
(“PWC”) to consider their reports on the scope, strategy, progress
and outcome of their independent review of the interim financial
report and their annual audit of the consolidated financial

statements.

Attendance for the two meetings held by the Audit Committee

during the year is set out below:

Audit Committee Members Meetings Attended/Held

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny (Chairman) 272
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael 2/2
Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 88s, jp 2/2
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The financial statements for the year have been audited by PWC.
During the year, remuneration of approximately HK$1,864,000
was payable to PWC for the provision of audit services. In
addition, approximately HK$361,000 was payable to PWC for
other non-audit services. The non-audit services mainly consist

of tax compliance and advisory services.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible to the Board for ensuring
that Board procedures are followed and Board activities are
efficiently and effectively conducted. These objectives are
achieved through adherence to proper Board processes and the
timely preparation and dissemination to Directors comprehensive
meeting agendas and papers. Minutes of all Board meetings and
Board committees are prepared and maintained by the Company
Secretary to record in sufficient details the matters considered
and decisions reached by the Board or Committee, including any
concerns raised or dissenting views voiced by any Director. All
minutes are sent to Directors and are available for inspection by

any Director upon request.

The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring that the Board
is fully appraised of all legislative, regulatory and corporate
governance developments relating to the Group and also

responsible for the Group’s statutory compliance.

The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is
subject to Board approval in accordance with the Bye-laws of
the Company. The Company Secretary reports to the Board, all
members of the Board have access to the advice and service of
the Company Secretary. The Company Secretary of the Company
has day-to-day knowledge of the Group’s affairs. In response to
specific enquiries made, the Company Secretary confirmed that

he has complied with all the proposed qualifications, experience

and training requirements of the Listing Rules.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Communication with shareholders is given high priority.
Extensive information about the Group’s activities is provided in
the annual report and the interim report. The Group’s website
provides regularly updated Group information to shareholders.
The Company also arranges regular site visit for investors and
media. Enquiries on matters relating to shareholdings and the
business of the Group are welcome, and are dealt with in an
informative and timely manner. The Group encourages all
shareholders to attend AGM. Notice of the AGM and related
papers are sent to shareholders at least 20 clear business days
prior to the date of AGM.

The Company has established the Shareholders’ Communication
Policy setting out the formal channels of communication with
shareholders and other stakeholders for ensuring fair disclosure
and comprehensive and transparent reporting of the Group’s
performance and activities, a copy of the policy has been posted

to the website of the Group.

Shareholders’ Rights
The procedures for shareholders to convene and put forward
proposals at an AGM or special general meeting (“SGM”) are set

out in the Company’s website.

Shareholders may send their enquires requiring the Board’s
attention to the Company’s head office and principal place of
business at 3/F., Perfect Industrial Building, 31 Tai Yau Street,
Sanpokong, Kowloon, Hong Kong or by e-mail to
enquiry@hkstarlite.com. Questions about the procedures for
convening or putting forward proposals at an AGM or SGM may

also be put to the Company by the same means.

The Company also values and is eager to hear suggestions and
comments from shareholders and investors. For enquiries from
institutional investors and securities analysts please contact our

Company Secretary.

On behalf of the Board
Cheung Chi Shing, Charles

Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 28th June, 2012

XERMSE

>

BERRAE R
AEEREERERRNBE - FRE PSR
HAREENAEEEBOEHN - REBENBUTEH
RERREHREHEM - ARATERAKREERE
BB BEMTH ASEBROREESHEHRESE
iR ER A RBEBNER MMAEERTERN
R EAEE - A EEREERT A B w R B
FRE - BRBAFAGBERFEXH R ERESF
REHEHZRL - HEALEHAMERRXER -

AAREHFTRFBABE AIBRZEERREE
MmABEEENERNERRE UBRARFNER
BRESHBARF 2EEEFHENEE MRS
WEREEEERAEENBE -

R R & 7
BREAABRRBFAGHEREINARE (HRIAE])
FRELREZFNEFCEHANARBHL -

BRERAKFEEEFSEINEANTTEARAR A AR
FRELETESEME MU R/FTENEFTBEARE
H=ZF+T " BEFEXEITEARAE=ZRBAEH =
enquiry@hkstarlite.com < 5 B A F R RIEF K& 3k
BEREBIAGXREG LE2RENERFERBETA
LARER 77 A AR E R

AABEGMBLORREBREEDZTEARER
BEBREERFSFOMMWNAESH  FHEQ AW

E-

EEEEW
RAIRE

R MK

&8 —ET——FXXA=-1+/\H

45




46

MANAGEMENT PROFILE

DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu, aged 65, has been an Executive Director of
the Company since 1992. He is the Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company and is the founder of the
Group. He holds a Master Degree in Business Administration
from the National University of Singapore. Mr. Lam has been in
community work in China and Hong Kong for many years. He is
a member of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference, a member of Selection
Committee for the Government of HKSAR and a committee
member of the Election Committee Subsector Elections, a director
of Chinese Overseas Friendship Association, an Adjunct Professor
of College of Business of City University of Hong Kong, Director
of Guangzhou Jinan University and a Guest Professor of Wuhan
University and South China Normal University. Mr. Lam has
received several prominent awards including “Hong Kong Ten
Outstanding Young Persons Award 1986”, “Young Industrialist
Award of Hong Kong 1988”, the first “Hong Kong Entrepreneurs
Award 1990” , “Outstanding Achievements Award” of the “Hong
Kong Print Award 1999” and “Medal of Honor (M.H.)” from the
government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in
2002. Mr. Lam has over 46 years’ experience in the printing
industry and takes charge of the overall planning and
development of the Group. He has made dedicated efforts to
enhance the transformation of Starlite in recent years.

Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus, aged 55, has been an Executive Director
of the Company since 1993. He is currently the Senior Vice
President and Chief Technical Officer of the Group. He was
appointed as director of several wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company with effect from 19th August, 2011. He graduated from
the Graphics Art Department of the Chinese Culture University
of Taiwan in 1978 and has over 30 years’ experience in the
printing industry. He is appointed as one of 1SO/TC130 Experts
representing SAC/TC170 of China and participating international

printing standardization affairs.

Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles, aged 56, has been an Executive
Director of the Company since 2000 and the Company Secretary
since 1999. He is currently the Senior Vice President of the
Group. Mr Cheung joined the Group in early 1997 and is
responsible for the overall finance function of the Group. He
was appointed as director of several wholly-owned subsidiaries
of the Company with effect from 19th August, 2011 and

authorized representative of the Company with effect from Tst

September, 2011. He has held various senior positions in
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finance, accounting and auditing fields for more than 26 years.
Mr. Cheung graduated from The Hongkong Polytechnic
University and is an Associate Member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a Fellow Member of

The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Non-Executive Director

Ms. Yeung Chui, aged 65, is one of the founders of the Group.
She retired on 31st August, 2011 and was re-designated from the
position of Executive Director to Non-Executive Director of the
Company with effect from 1st September, 2011. She has over 46

years’ experience in the printing industry.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, aged 60, Independent Non-
Executive Director, Chairman of the Remuneration Committee,
member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of
the Company. He has been an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company since 1993. Mr. Chan is the Chairman
of the publicly-listed Café de Coral Holdings Limited in Hong
Kong. He is also a Non-Executive Director of Tao Heung
Holdings Limited, an Independent Non-Executive Director of
Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited, Pacific Textiles Holdings
Limited, and Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (International) Limited, all of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange. He holds a double major degree in Sociology and
Political Science, a Masters degree in City Planning from the
University of Manitoba, an Honorary Doctorate Degree in
Business Administration, and is bestowed as Honorary Fellow
from Lingnan University. He is also a member of the Political
Consultative Committee of Nanshan District, Shenzhen in the
People’s Republic of China. Mr. Chan currently serves on the
executive committee of the Hong Kong Retail Management
Association, the general committee of the Employers’ Federation
of Hong Kong, the council of the Hong Kong Management
Association, the adviser of the Quality Tourism Services
Association, as well as being appointed by the HKSAR
Government as board member of the Hong Kong Tourism Board
and a member of the Business Facilitation Advisory Committee.
Besides, he is also the Honorary Chairman of the Hong Kong
Institute of Marketing and the Chairman of the Business
Enterprise Management Centre of the Hong Kong Management
Association. He has many years of professional experience in the

public sector and over 27 years’ managerial experience in the

food and catering industry.
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Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 88s, jp, aged 56, Independent Non-
Executive Director, Chairman of Nomination Committee, member
of the Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee of the
Company. He was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company in July 2004. Mr. Kwok is a practising
solicitor in Hong Kong, and is currently the Managing Partner,
Asia Strategy & Markets of King & Wood Mallesons. He is
qualified to practise as a solicitor in Australia, England and
Wales and Singapore. He is also qualified as a CPA in Hong
Kong and Australia and a Chartered Accountant in England and
Wales. He graduated from the University of Sydney, Australia
with bachelor’s degrees in economics and laws respectively as
well as a master’s degree in laws. He also graduated from the
Advanced Management Program of the Harvard Business School.
Mr. Kwok is currently an Independent Non-Executive Director of
a number of publicly listed companies in Hong Kong, namely,
Pacific Andes International Holdings Limited, Shenyin Wanguo
(HK) Limited, Cafe de Coral Holdings Limited as well as a Non-
Executive Director of First Shanghai Investments Limited. He
resigned as a Director of Western Mining Co. Ltd (a company
listed in Shanghai) with effect from 30th March, 2009 and
resigned as an independent non-executive director of Carry
Wealth Holdings Limited with effect from 9th September, 2011.

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny, aged 63, Independent Non-
Executive Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee, member
of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of
the Company. He was appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company in July 2004. He is a
practising Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong. He is a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Ontario, Canada. Mr. Tam is serving as a
member of the Small and Medium Practitioners Leadership Panel
and Practice Review Committee in the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. He is also a Past President of The
Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors. Mr. Tam also
serves as an independent non-executive director of five other
listed companies on the main board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited, namely, CCT Telecom Holdings Limited,
Kingmaker Footwear Holdings Limited, Shougang Concord Grand
(Group) Limited, Van Shung Chong Holdings Limited and West
China Cement Limited, and a listed company on the growth

enterprise market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited,

namely, North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited.
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MANAGEMENT PROFILE

Senior Executives

Mr. Chan Chi Wai, Anson, aged 48, Mr. Chan joined the Group
in September, 2011 as Senior Vice President responsible for sales
and marketing of the Group. Mr. Chan worked for Avery
Dennison, a Fortune 500 company, over twenty years and his
last role was General Manager — Asia Pacific Region with full
P&L responsibility for various business units with proven track
records in developing new businesses and leading industrial
manufacturing across Asia. Mr. Chan holds an Executive MBA
degree from The Chinese University of Hong Kong and
completed an Executive Program in UC Berkeley, USA.

Mr. Tin Shing, aged 49, is the Senior Vice President (Operations)
of the Group. He joined the Group in 1981 and was promoted
to the present position on 1st February, 2012. He is responsible
for overseeing the Group’s production bases in the PRC. He has

more than 30 years’ of experience in the printing and packaging

industry.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

_a

pwc

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
STARLITE HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Starlite
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together,
the “Group”) set out on pages 52 to 136, which comprise the
consolidated and company statements of financial position as at
31st March, 2012, and the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory

information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any

other person for the contents of this report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated

financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall

presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31st March, 2012 and of the Group’s loss and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong

Kong Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28th June, 2012
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52 CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT Gekam®
For the year ended 31st March, 2012 BE_T——_F=A=+—-HILFE
2012 2011
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt 55 TERT FET
Revenue g A 5 1,359,676 1,545,238
Cost of sales 3 & B 7 (1,121,596) (1,279,692)
Gross profit EF 238,080 265,546
Other gains — net Hiblhzs — F58 6 3,892 1,362
Impairment of property, plant and equipment #1% - 5 K& &R E 16 (27,755) —
Selling and distribution costs HENDIHER 7 (73,239) (85,504)
General and administrative expenses — R RITBAX 7 (153,622) (134,957)
Operating (loss)/profit g (B8R BE (12,644) 46,447
Finance income mE WA 422 357
Finance costs Bl & B AR (8,391) (9,756)
Finance costs — net BMEXEK — FHE 8 (7,969) (9,399
(Loss)/profit before income tax BB AT (F1E) R (20,613) 37,048
Income tax expense B X 11 3,512) (11,988)
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable FREAQTER
to the equity holders BEAEL(EE)
of the Company i Rl 12 (24,125) 25,060
(Losses)/earnings per share attributable to FREAQDTEREE
the equity holders of the Company during BEAELEESR
the year (B8] BF
(expressed in HK cents per share) (R LB 275) 13
— Basic — &K (4.59) 4.78
— Diluted — g (4.59) 4.74
The notes on pages 58 to 136 form an integral part of these MNHE58HZ136AZMHE AU FHREMBRENE
consolidated financial statements. BEE -
Details of dividends payable to equity holders of the Company BN AR BEmFAAZ RS FIBEERK 14 -
are set out in Note 14.




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31st March, 2012

(Loss)/profit for the year

Other comprehensive income:

(Decrease)/increase in fair value of available-for-
sale financial assets

Currency translation differences

Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year
attributable to equity holders
of the Company

FR(ER)ER

Hith 2 E U :
AHHERHEELZ

AFECR D),/
ERER

FAHEMDE KRS

FAXQABEEEFEA
EE2E(BR) K
HeE

RETEWER

BE-_T—

—F=ZA=+—HLFE

2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT
(24,125) 25,060
(33) 182
9,314 25,738
9,281 25,920
(14,844) 50,980

The notes on pages 58 and 136 form an integral part of these M ES8EZEIBAEZMTRUZFRATHERENE

B -

consolidated financial statements.
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54 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION B B AR R &R
As at 31st March, 2012 R-_E——®#=ZA=+—H
Group Company
58 A7
As at As at As at As at
31st March, 31st March, 31st March, 31st March,
2012 2011 2012 2011
R-ZB--F RZIT——F RZIB-ZF RT——F
=ZA=+-A ZA=+-B =ZA=+-B Z=ZA=t+-H
Note HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$"000
B sE TERT FET TER FER
ASSETS gE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Land use rights TR 15 26,854 26,743 — —
Property, plant and equipment nE - BEREE 16 431,891 446,402 - —
Prepayments for property, nE BER
plant and equipment FEZBAK 3,642 1,135 - -
Investments in and amounts due RITBARZKE RER
from subsidiaries FE 17 — — 242,481 265,798
Available-for-sale financial assets AHREENBEE 18 1,400 1,433 — —
Deferred income tax assets BEMBHEE 25 2,178 2,548 — —
465,965 478,261 242,481 265,798
Current assets RBEE
Inventories e 19 106,133 142,193 — —
Trade and bill receivables BHRKESNREER 20 214,743 236,633 — —
Prepayments and deposits BNRERRS 20 16,626 13,748 696 721
Tax recoverable Bl GEEREYES 122 51 22 52
Bank deposits with maturity over HERARTEHB
3 months from date of deposits “EANBZRAER 22 20,910 18,402 - —
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBLERE 22 189,517 178,343 278 777
548,051 589,370 996 1,550
LIABILITIES aE
Current liabilities REBEE
Borrowings BE 23 202,225 168,832 — —
Trade and bill payables EE  BETOES 24 110,614 154,973 — —
Accruals and other payables E:tRAEREMENT 74,900 68,099 1,096 1,027
Amounts due to subsidiaries BT E A RIRE 17 — — 43,244 61,827
Derivative financial instruments TESBTA 21 2,536 3,349 - —
Tax payable ENHE 28,644 30,737 — —
418,919 425,990 44,340 62,854
Net current assets/(liabilities) REEE/(BF) 28 129,132 163,380 (43,344) (61,304)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRDAR 595,097 641,641 199,137 204,494




STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION B B AR R &R 55
As at 31st March, 2012 R-_E——®#=ZA=+—H
Group Company
58 AHE
As at As at As at As at
31st March, 31st March, 31st March, 31st March,
2012 2011 2012 2011
RZB--F RZIZT——F RZIB-ZF RT——F
=ZA=+-B ZA=+-B =ZA=+-B Z=ZA=+-H
Note HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$"000
WisE TER FET TERT FER
Non-current liabilities *RBER
Borrowings BmE 23 29,367 45,561 - —
Deferred income tax liabilities EEFMBHARE 25 10,581 12,963 — —
39,948 58,524 - —
Net assets EESE 555,149 583,117 199,137 204,494
EQUITY BAER
Capital and reserves attributable to ARRREHEARER
the equity holders of the Company ARfEE
Share capital % A 26 52,514 52,514 52,514 52,514
Reserves i 28 502,635 530,603 146,623 151,980
Shareholders equity REER 555,149 583,117 199,137 204,494
Lam Kwong Yu Cheung Chi Shing, Charles
Mg RAER
Chairman Director
E93 E3
The notes on pages 58 and 136 form an integral part of these AES8E E136A 2 M T At EiFA M MR EE
consolidated financial statements. =Ry o




56 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY #HREREZE B X
For the year ended 31st March, 2012 BE_T——F=A=+—-HILFE
Attributable to the equity holders of the Company
EAREREEAEMN
Share capital Reserves Total
A& it it
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
Balance at 1st April, 2010 R-ZZ-ZFNA—-HEHR 52,398 492,370 544,768
Profit for the year F R M — 25,060 25,060
Other comprehensive income HEi2mE s
— Increase in fair value of — HEEBEE
available-for-sale financial 2 AFEE N
assets — 182 182
— Currency translation differences — JE X =& — 25,738 25,738
Total comprehensive income for  FR2HE K25
the year — 50,980 50,980
Employee share options scheme (g 2B T &
— lIssue of shares upon exercise —— 77{FEEBEREM
of employee share options BEITH R 116 331 447
— Share based payments — ROZHEE — 33 33
Dividends paid ENKRE — (13,111) (13,111)
116 38,233 38,349
Balance at 31st March, 2011 R-EBE—-——F=A=+—H&& 52,514 530,603 583,117
Balance at 1st April, 2011 R-B——FWNA—RA&H 52,514 530,603 583,117
Loss for the year FANERE — (24,125) (24,125)
Other comprehensive income Hih2mElas
— Decrease in fair value of — A EMBEE
available-for-sale financial <2 HER D
assets — (33) (33)
— Currency translation differences — JEX =& — 9,314 9,314
Total comprehensive loss for FALHEGELSE
the year — (14,844) (14,844)
Employee share options scheme  {& 8 B f% #& & 2l
— Share based payments — B aEme — 4 4
Dividends paid EfTRE — (13,128) (13,128)
— (27,968) (27,968)
Balance at 31st March, 2012 R-ZZE-Z-ZF=ZA=Z+—-B#&H 52,514 502,635 555,149
The notes on pages 58 and 136 form an integral part of these HRES58BE136B 2 AL SHRAMEHRERMEBE
consolidated financial statements. B o




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS #HZEBHERER 57
For the year ended 31st March, 2012 HE_T——_F=A=+—ALLFE
2012 2011
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
M 5 THERT TR
Cash flows from operating activities BRETHHERE
Cash inflow generated from operations BEeXBEEZRESRA 29(a) 97,433 60,603
Interest paid EARRAINS) (9,205) (9,908)
Hong Kong profits tax paid ENEENEH (2,437) (1,771)
Overseas income tax paid BB (5,671) (3,174)
Hong Kong profits tax refunded EREBBNEH 29 1,543
Net cash generated from operating activities &€& &8N E £ 2 I & F 5 80,149 47,293
Cash flows from investing activities RETH2HERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BB %% - KFE k& E (70,018) (51,862)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant LEWME BMELEHEHZ
and equipment BIESEI N 29(b) — 53
Prepayments for property, plant and ME - BB Kk
equipment &2 AR (2,507) 13,568
Interest received WA B 422 357
Increase in short-term bank deposits with il =1 A 2B R HIRTT
maturity over 3 months (Ex %Dl (2,508) (1,958)
Net cash used in investing activities REFBMAZHAeFR @461 (39,842)
Cash flows from financing activities METBZEERE
Proceeds from exercise of employee share BETEBREZ
options Frig A — 447
New long-term bank loans FGRITRBER 74,336 63,000
Repayment of long-term bank loans BERITRAER (60,766) (63,156)
New short-term bank loans FEBITRHER 282,126 320,452
Repayment of short-term bank loans BERITEHER (285,548) (312,156)
Dividends paid BT E (13,128) (13,111)
Net cash used in financing activities mEERHMAZREFE (2,980)  (4,524)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents BERBELEEZFEHEEM 2,558 2,927
Cash and cash equivalents on 1st April B—BzBRERRLEHE 175,245 160,543
Exchange gains on cash and bank overdrafts 3R & &iR7T##E X 2 B X W 3,007 11,775
Cash and cash equivalents on 31st March ZA=+t-BZEERBREEE 22 180,810 175,245
The notes on pages 58 and 136 form an integral part of these MRES8HEE136E WA ALZHRAVERRNERL
consolidated financial statements. 2B e
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

General Information

Starlite Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is an investment
holding company. lts subsidiaries are principally engaged
in the printing and manufacturing of packaging materials,
labels and paper products, including environmental

friendly paper products.

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on 3rd
November, 1992, as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. The
address of its registered office is Canon’s Court, 22
Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda. The Company’s
shares have been listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong

Kong Limited since 1993.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollar, unless otherwise stated. These
consolidated financial statements have been approved for
issue by the Board of Directors on 28th June, 2012.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
set out below. These policies have been consistently

applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group
have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”). The
consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as
modified by the revaluation of available-for-sale
financial assets and financial liabilities (including
derivative financial instruments) at fair value through

profit or loss.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with  HKFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are

significant to the consolidated financial statements

are disclosed in note 4.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

As at 3Tst March, 2012, the Group had breached
certain financial covenants in respect of the
borrowings of approximately HK$64,577,000 and
accordingly, the non-current portion of these
borrowings, to approximately
HK$40,891,000 has been reclassified as current
liabilities as at 31st March, 2012. Nonetheless, the
directors consider that the Group will have sufficient

amounting

working capital to finance its operations and meet
its financial obligations as and when they fall due
and accordingly, are satisfied that it is appropriate
to prepare the financial statements on a going
concern basis.

The following revised standards, amendments to
standards and interpretations are mandatory for the
first time for the year ended 31st March, 2012. The
Group has adopted these revised standards,
amendments to standards and interpretations where
considered appropriate and relevant to its

operations.

. HKAS 24

Transactions”

(Revised), “Related Party

. HKAS 32 (Amendment), “Classification of
Rights Issues”

. HKFRS 1 (Amendment), “Limited Exemption
from Comparative HKFRS 7 Disclosures for

First-time Adopters”

. HK(IFRIC) — Int 14

“Prepayments of a Minimum Funding

(Amendment),

Requirement”
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)
. HK(IFRIC) — Int 19, “Extinguishing Financial
Liabilities with Equity Instruments”

. HKFRSs (Amendment), “Improvements to
HKFRSs 2010”

The adoption of the above revised standards,
amendments to standards and interpretations did not
have any significant effect on the financial
statements or result in any significant changes to

the Group’s significant accounting policies.

The following new standards, amendments to
standards and interpretation have been issued but
are not mandatory for the year ended 31st March,

2012 and have not been early adopted:

. HKAS 1 (Amendment), “Presentation of
Financial Statements”, effective for annual

periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2012

. HKAS 12 (Amendment), “Deferred Tax:
Recovery of Underlying Assets”, effective for
annual periods beginning on or after Tst

January, 2012

. HKAS 19 (Amendment), “Employee Benefits”,
effective for annual periods beginning on or

after 1st January, 2013

o HKAS 27 (revised 2011), “Separate Financial
Statements”, effective for annual periods

beginning on or after 1st January, 2013

. HKAS 28 (revised 2011), “Associates and
Joint Ventures”, effective for annual periods

beginning on or after 1st January, 2013
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

HKAS 32 (Amendment), “Offsetting Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities”, effective for
annual periods beginning on or after Tst
January, 2014

HKFRS 7 (Amendment), “Disclosures —
Transfers of Financial Assets”, effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1st July,
2011

HKFRS 7

Instruments:

(Amendment), “Financial
Disclosures — Offsetting
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities”,
effective for annual periods beginning on or

after st January, 2013

HKFRS 7 and HKFRS 9 (Amendment),
“Mandatory Effective Date and Transition
Disclosures”, effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1st January, 2015

HKFRS 9, “Financial Instruments”, effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1st

January, 2015

HKFRS 10,

Statements”, effective for annual periods

“Consolidated Financial

beginning on or after 1st January, 2013

HKFRS 11, “Joint Arrangements”, effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1st

January, 2013
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)
. HKFRS 12, “Disclosures of Interests in Other
Entities”,

effective for annual periods

beginning on or after 1st January, 2013

. HKFRS 13, “Fair Value Measurements”,
effective for annual periods beginning on or

after 1st January, 2013

o HK(IFRIC) — Int 20, “Stripping Costs in the
Production Phase of a Surface Mine”,
effective for annual periods beginning on or

after 1st January, 2013

The Group is currently assessing the likely impact
of the adoption of these new standards, amendments
to standards and interpretation in future periods. In
addition, the Group is in the process of making an
assessment of the impact of the “Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs 2009-2011", which will
be effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1st January, 2013. It has concluded that both are

unlikely to have material impact on the Group’s

financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2

Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and all of its

subsidiaries made up to 31st March.

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group
has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies generally accompanying a shareholding of
more than one half of the voting rights. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that
are currently exercisable or convertible are
considered when assessing whether the Group
controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated

from the date that control ceases.

The Group uses the acquisition method of
accounting to account for business combinations.
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration transferred
includes the fair value of any asset or liability
resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed
as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date. On an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group
recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interest’s proportionate share of the

acquiree’s net assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair
value of the identifiable net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in
the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is

recognised directly in the consolidated income

statement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2

2.3

24

Consolidation (Continued)

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment (note 2.7). Cost is adjusted to
reflect changes in consideration arising from
contingent consideration amendments. Cost also
includes direct attributable costs of investment. The
results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the

Company on the basis of dividend and receivable.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated.
The subsidiaries’ financial statements have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to
the chief operating decision-maker. The chief
operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of
the operating segments, has been identified as the
Chairman/Chief Executive Officer who makes

strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation

(a)  Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$”), which is the Company’s

functional and the Group’s presentation

currency.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions or valuation where items are re-
measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in the consolidated income

statement.

All foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in the consolidated income

statement within ‘other gains — net'.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the
group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that
have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the

presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement
of financial position presented are
translated at the closing rate at the
date of that statement of financial

position;

(i) income and expenses for each
consolidated income statement are
translated at average exchange rates
(unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case

income and expenses are translated at

the dates of the transactions); and
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(c) Group companies (Continued)
(iii)  all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive

income.

On consolidation, exchange differences
arising from the translation of the net
investment in foreign operations are taken to
other comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is partially disposed of or sold,
exchange differences that were recorded in
equity are recognised in the consolidated
income statement as part of the gain or loss
on sale.

2.5 Land use rights
The up-front prepayments made for land use rights
are accounted for as operating leases. They are
expensed in the consolidated income statement on
a straight-line basis over the periods of the lease;
when there is impairment, the impairment is

expensed in the consolidated income statement.

2.6 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment, including leasehold
land interests classified as finance leases other than
construction in progress are stated at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the

acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged in the consolidated

income statement during the period in which they

are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.6

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Leasehold land interests classified as finance lease
commence amortisation from the time when the
land interest becomes available for its intended use.
Amortisation on leasehold land interests classified
as finance lease and depreciation on other assets is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their cost to their residual values over their

estimated useful lives, as follows:

— Leasehold land classified
Over the lease term
25 to 50 years
5 to 10 years

as finance lease
— Buildings
— Plant and machinery
— Furniture and equipment 5 to 10 years
— Motor vehicles 5 years
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of

reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated

recoverable amount (note 2.7).

Construction in progress comprises buildings on
which construction work has not been completed
and plant and machinery on which installation work
has not been completed. It is carried at cost which
includes construction and installation expenditures
and other direct costs less any impairment losses.
On completion, construction in progress is
transferred to the appropriate categories of property,
plant and equipment at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. No depreciation is provided for
construction in progress until it is completed and

available for use.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amounts

and are recognised in the consolidated income

statement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.7

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries and
non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life or have not
yet been made available for use are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.
Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash
flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets
other than goodwill that suffered impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at

each reporting date.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving dividends from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the

consolidated financial statements of the investee’s

net assets including goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.8

Financial assets
The Group classifies its financial assets in the

following categories: at fair value through profit or

loss,

loans and receivables and available-for-sale.

The classification depends on the purpose for which

the financial assets were acquired. Management

determines the classification of its financial assets at

initial recognition.

(a)

(b)

(c)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are financial assets held for trading. A
financial asset is classified in this category if
acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the short term. Derivatives are also
categorised as held for trading unless they
are designated as hedges. Assets in this
category are classified as current assets if
expected to be settled within 12 months;

otherwise, they are classified as non-current.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets,
except for maturities greater than 12 months
after the end of the reporting period. These
are classified as non-current assets. The
Group’s loans and receivables comprise trade
and bill receivables and bank balances and
cash in the statement of financial position
(notes 2.12 and 2.13).

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-
derivatives that are either designated in this
category or not classified in any of the other
categories. They are included in non-current
assets unless the investment matures or

management intends to dispose of it within

12 months of the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.8

Financial assets (Continued)

Regular way of purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date — the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair
value plus transaction costs for all financial assets
not carried at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets carried at fair value through profit
or loss are initially recognised at fair value, and
transaction costs are expensed in the consolidated
income statement. Financial assets are derecognised
when the rights to receive cash flows from the
investments have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all risks
and rewards of ownership. Available-for-sale
financial assets and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are subsequently carried at
fair value. Loans and receivables are subsequently
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-
monetary securities classified as available-for-sale
assets are other

financial recognised in

comprehensive income.

When securities classified as available-for-sale are
sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value
adjustments recognised in equity are included in the
consolidated income statement. Interest on available-
for-sale securities calculated using the effective
interest method is recognised in the consolidated
income statement. Dividends on available-for-sale
equity
consolidated income statement when the Group’s

instruments are recognised in the

right to receive payments is established.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.9 Impairment of financial assets

(a)

Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end of each
reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that a financial asset or group of
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired and
impairment losses are incurred only if there
is objective evidence of impairment as a
result of one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss
event’) and that loss event (or events) has an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset or group of financial assets
that can be reliably estimated.

The criteria that the Group uses to determine
that there is objective evidence of an

impairment loss include:

. Significant financial difficulty of the
issuer or obligor;

. A breach of contract, such as a default
or delinquency in interest or principal

payments;

o The Group, for economic or legal
reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, granting to the
borrower a concession that the lender

would not otherwise consider;

o It becomes probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other

financial reorganisation;

. The disappearance of an active market

for that financial asset because of

financial difficulties; or
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.9 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(a) Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)
. Observable data indicating that there
is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows from a
portfolio of financial assets since the
initial recognition of those assets,
although the decrease cannot yet be
identified with the individual financial

assets in the portfolio, including:

(i) adverse changes in the payment
status of borrowers in the

portfolio;

(i) national or local economic
conditions that correlate with
defaults on the assets in the

portfolio.

The Group first assesses whether objective

evidence of impairment exists.

The amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate. The asset’s carrying
amount is reduced and the amount of the
loss is recognised in the consolidated income
statement. If a loan has a variable interest
rate, the discount rate for measuring any
impairment loss is the current effective
interest rate determined under the contract.
As a practical expedient, the Group may
measure impairment on the basis of an

instrument’s fair value using an observable

market price.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.9 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised
(such as an improvement in the debtor’s
credit rating), the reversal of the previously
recognised impairment loss is recognised in

the consolidated income statement.

Assets classified as available for sale

The Group assesses at the end of each
reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. For debt
securities, the Group uses the criteria refer to
in (a) above. In the case of equity investments
classified as available for sale, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of the
security below its cost is also evidence that
the assets are impaired. If any such evidence
exists for available-for-sale financial assets,
the cumulative loss — measured as the
difference between the acquisition cost and
the current fair value, less any impairment
loss on that financial asset previously
recognised in profit or loss — is removed
from equity and recognised in the separate
consolidated income statement. Impairment
losses recognised in the separate consolidated
income statement on equity instruments are
not reversed through the separate
consolidated income statement. If, in a
subsequent period, the fair value of a debt
instrument classified as available for sale
increases and the increase can be objectively
related to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised in profit or

loss, the impairment loss is reversed through

the separate consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.10

2.12

2.13

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on
the date a derivative contract is entered into and
are subsequently re-measured at their fair value. The
derivative instruments held by the Group do not
qualify for hedge accounting and are accounted for
at fair value through profit or loss. Changes in fair
value of these derivative instruments are recognised

immediately in the consolidated income statement.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the
weighted average method. The cost of finished
goods and work in progress comprises raw
materials, direct labour, other direct costs and
related production overheads (based on normal
operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable

selling expenses.

Trade and bill receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers
for merchandise sold or services performed in the
ordinary course of business. If collection of trade
and bill receivables is expected in one year or less
(or in the normal operating cycle of the business if
longer), they are classified as current assets. If not,

they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and bill receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less

provision for impairment.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand,
deposits held at call with banks, other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current

liabilities on the consolidated statement of financial

position.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EBESTERMEGE
(Continued)
2.14 Borrowings and borrowing costs 214 MERBENE

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net
of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost; any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the
consolidated income statement over the period of

the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the
facilities will be drawn down. In this case, the fee
is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the
extent there is no evidence that it is probable that
some or all of the facilities will be drawn down,
the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the

facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer

settlement of the liability for at least 12 months

after the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.15

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers. Trade payables
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due
within one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are

presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using

the effective interest method.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current
and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the
consolidated income statement, except to the extent
that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity,

respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period in the
countries where the Company and its subsidiaries
operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes

provisions where appropriate on the basis of

amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EERETHRMEE
(Continued)
2.16 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

2.16 BV K IE 5 Fr 16 Bt (4K)

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, the deferred income tax is not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries,
except for deferred income tax liability where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is
controlled by the Group and it is probable that the

temporary difference will not reverse in the

foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.17 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of

new shares or options are shown in equity as a

deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.18 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and
long service leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave and
long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period. Employee entitlements to
sick leave and maternity leave are not

recognised until the time of the leave.

Retirement benefits

The Group participates in various defined
contribution retirement benefit schemes. A
defined contribution plan is a retirement
benefit scheme under which the Group pays
fixed contributions into a separate entity. The
Group has no legal or constructive obligations
to pay further contribution for post-retirement

benefits beyond these fixed contributions.

The schemes are generally funded through
payments to government authorities, insurance
companies or trustee-administered funds. The
Group pays contributions on a mandatory,
contractual or voluntary basis. The
contributions are recognised as employment
costs when they are due. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to

the extent that a cash refund or a reduction

in the future payments is available.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)
2.18 Employee benefits (Continued)

(c)

Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-
based compensation plan. The fair value of
the employee services received in exchange
for the grant of the options is recognised as
an expense. The total amount to be expensed
over the vesting period is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options
granted, including any market performance
conditions; excluding the impact of any non-
market vesting conditions (for example,
profitability and sales growth targets and
remaining an employee of the entity over a
specific time period); and including the
impact of any non-vesting conditions (for
example, the requirement for employees to
save). Non-market vesting conditions are
included in assumptions about the number of
options that are expected to vest. The total
expense is recognised over the vesting period,
which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be
satisfied. At the end of each reporting period,
the Group revises its estimates of the number
of options that are expected to vest based on
the non-market vesting conditions. It
recognises the impact of the revision of
original estimates, if any, in the consolidated
income statement, with a corresponding

adjustment to equity.

The cash subscribed for the shares issued
when the options are exercised is credited to
share capital (nominal value) and share

premium, net of any directly attributable

transaction costs.
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EESHBREEHE)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2
(Continued)

2.18 Employee benefits (Continued)

(d) Profit-sharing and bonus plans
The Group recognises a liability and an
expense for bonuses and profit-sharing, based
on a formula that takes into consideration the
profit attributable to the Company’s
shareholders after certain adjustments. The
Group recognises a provision where there is
a past practice that has created a constructive

obligation.

2.19 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events; it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating

losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of
obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of

obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risk specific to the obligation. The increase in

the provision due to the passage of time is

recognised as interest expense.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.20 Revenue recognition

2.21

Revenue comprises the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for the sale of
goods in the ordinary course of the Group’s
activities. Revenue is shown net of value-added tax,
returns, rebates and discounts and after eliminating

sales within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable
that future economic benefits will flow to the entity
and specific criteria have been met for each of the
Group’s activities as described below. The Group
bases its estimates on historical results, taking into
consideration the type of customer, the type of
transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

(a)  Sales of goods
Sales of goods are recognised when a group
entity has delivered products to the customer,
the customer has accepted the products and
collectability of the related receivables is

reasonably assured.

(b) Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time-
proportion basis using the effective interest
method.

Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks
and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor
are classified as operating leases. Payments made
under operating leases (net of any incentives
received from the lessor), including upfront payment
made for land use rights, are charged to the

consolidated income statement on a straight-line

basis over the period of the lease.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.21

2.22

Leases (Continued)

Leases of certain property, plant and equipment
where the Group has substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as finance
leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s
commencement at the lower of the fair value of the
leased property and the present value of the

minimum lease payments.

Each

liability and finance charges so as to achieve a

lease payment is allocated between the

constant rate on the finance balance outstanding.
The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance
charges, are included in short-term and long-term
finance lease obligations. The interest element of
the finance cost is charged to the consolidated
income statement over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.
The property, plant and equipment acquired under
finance leases is depreciated over the shorter of the

useful life of the asset and the lease term.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that
arises from past events and whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events
not wholly within the control of the Group. It can
also be a present obligation arising from past events
that is not recognised because it is not probable
that an outflow of economic resources will be
required or the amount of the obligation cannot be
measured reliably. A contingent liability is not
recognised but is disclosed in the financial
statements. When a change in the probability of an

outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will

then be recognised as a provision.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.22

2.23

2.24

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
(Continued)

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises
from past events and whose existence will be
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain events not
of the Group. A

contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed

wholly within the control

in the notes to the financial statements when an
inflow of economic benefits is probable. When an

inflow is virtually certain, an asset is recognised.

Financial guarantees

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that
require the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payments when due,
in accordance with the terms of a debt instruments.
The Company and the Group account for the
HKFRS 4

recognise

financial guarantee contracts under

“Insurance Contracts” and do not
liabilities for financial guarantees at inception, but
performs a liability adequacy test at the end of each
reporting period by comparing its net liability
regarding the financial guarantee with the amount
that would be required if the financial guarantee
would result in a present legal or constructive
obligation. If the respective liability is less than its
present legal or constructive obligation amount, the
entire difference is recognised in the consolidated

income statement immediately.

Dividend distributions

Dividend distributions to the Company’s
shareholders are recognised as a liability in the
Group’s and the Company’s financial statements in

the period in which the dividends are approved by

the Company’s shareholders.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s principal activities expose it to a
variety of financial risks: market risk (including
currency risk, fair value interest rate risk and cash
flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance. The Group uses
derivative financial instruments to manage certain
foreign exchange and interest risk exposures. Risk
management is carried out by senior management
of the Group under policies approved by the Board

of Directors of the Company.

@ Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk
Subsidiaries of the Company operate in
the People’s Republic of China (the
“Mainland China”), Hong Kong and
Singapore with most transactions
denominated in either Renminbi, Hong
Kong dollar, Singapore dollar or United
States dollar. The Group is exposed to
foreign exchange risk primarily through
sales and purchases transactions that
are denominated in a currency other
than the functional currency of the
relevant subsidiaries. The Group
considers its foreign currency exposure
mainly arises from the exposure of
Renminbi against Hong Kong dollar
and/or United States dollar. As Hong
Kong dollar is pegged to United States
dollar, the Group believes the exposure
of transactions denominated in United
States dollar which are entered by
group companies with a functional

currency of Hong Kong dollar to be

insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

The Group manages its exposures to
foreign currency transactions by
monitoring the level of foreign
currency receipts and payments. The
Group ensures that the net exposure
to foreign exchange risk is kept to an
acceptable level from time to time.
The Group also regularly reviews the
portfolio of local and international
customers and the currencies in which
the transactions are denominated so as
to minimise the Group’s exposure to

foreign exchange risk.

As at 31st March, 2012, approximately
71% (2011: 83%) of the Group’s
borrowings were denominated in Hong
Kong dollar and United States dollar
while the remaining were denominated
in Renminbi and Malaysian ringgit.
The Group’s borrowings are mainly in
Hong Kong dollar, United States dollar
or Renminbi to finance investments in
China after considering, inter alia,
future fluctuation in United States
dollar and Renminbi against Hong
Kong dollar and currency mix of
income sources and costs/expenses of
the Group. At present, the
management does not expect that
there will be any significant foreign
exchange risk associated with the
Group’s borrowings and the Group
did not use any financial instruments
to hedge its foreign exchange risk

arising from the Group’s borrowings

during the year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1  Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

At 31st March, 2012, if Renminbi had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2011:
5%) against Hong Kong dollar or
United States dollar with all other
variables held constant, pre-tax loss
for the year would have been
approximately HK$264,000
higher (2011: profit
HK$3,141,000 higher/lower) , mainly

as a result of foreign exchange gains/

lower/

pre-tax

losses on translation of cash and bank
balances, trade receivables, trade
payables and borrowings denominated
in non-functional currency of the

relevant group companies.

Cash flow interest rate risk

As the Group has no significant
interest-bearing assets except for the
cash and bank balances, the Group’s
income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes

in market interest rates.

The Group’s interest rate risk mainly
arises from borrowings. The Group is
exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank
borrowings. The Group’s cash flow
interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate arising from
the Group’s borrowings. The Group
hedged part of the cash flow interest-
rate risk through interest rate swaps,
which fixed the interest rate of the
notional

principal amounting to

HK$50,000,000 as at 31st March,
2012 (2011: HK$50,000,000).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Market risk (Continued)

(i) Cash flow interest rate risk (Continued)
At 31st March, 2012, if interest rates
on borrowings had been 10 basis
points higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, post-tax loss
for the year would have been
HK$190,000 higher/lower (2011: post-
tax profit HK$174,000 lower/higher),
mainly as a result of higher/lower
interest expense on floating rate

borrowings.

Credit risk
The credit risk of the Group mainly arises
from trade receivables and deposits with

banks and financial institutions.

Credit risk on trade debtors is managed by
the management of the individual business
units and monitored by the Group’s
Most

customers are sizable and renowned. For

management on a group basis.

other smaller customers, management assesses
their credit quality by considering its financial
position, past experience and other relevant
factors. The utilisation of credit limits is
regularly monitored. Debtors with overdue
balances will be requested to settle their

outstanding balances.

The Group believes that adequate provision
for doubtful debts has been made in the
consolidated financial statements and all
customers with delinquency in payments and
indication of impairment were fully provided
for. To the extent that information is available,
management has properly reflected revised
estimates of expected future cash flows in
their impairment assessments in relation to
receivables. As at 31st March, 2012, a total
provision for impairment of trade receivables
of HK$7,856,000 (2011: HK$5,148,000) had

been recognised in the Group’s financial

statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group has policies that limit the amount
of credit exposure to any individual financial
institution. The Group’s bank deposits are all
deposited in renowned and established banks
or financial institutions in Hong Kong,
Singapore and Mainland China. Management
considers that the credit risk associated with
deposits with banks and financial institutes is

low.

The Company has no significant exposure to
credit risk, Management has also performed
the liability adequacy test on the guarantees
given to bank and financial institutions for
certain of its subsidiaries and is of the
opinion that there are no liabilities in related

to the guarantees given.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and the availability
of funding through an adequate amount of
committed credit facilities. Due to the
dynamic nature of the underlying businesses,
the Group’s management aims to maintain
flexibility in funding by maintaining

availability under committed credit lines.

As mentioned in Note 2.1 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group has breached
certain financial covenants of the loan
facilities, management considers the Group
has sufficient funds to meet its operations

needs.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the
Group’s liquidity reserve which comprises
cash and cash equivalents (Note 22) and

undrawn borrowing facilities (Note 32) on the

basis of expected cash flow.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1  Financial risk factors (Continued)
()

Bt %5 3R M &

3 UHRERERE
31 MBEBREEGE

Liquidity risk (Continued) () HmHEZRELE &)
The table below analyses the Group’s and the TRERBBREERBEZEHE
Company’s financial liabilities into relevant HEZHABRREAEEREAR
maturity groupings based on the remaining Rlz B aEETHBEDHAR
period at the end of reporting period date to M ERABPBEZESBAAN
contractual maturity date. The amounts HREBENRERE - AR R
disclosed in the table are the contractual IREBWTAEKR BN+ =@
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within AAREENZEHRBSENAR
12 months equal their carrying balances, as H1E -
the impact of discounting is not significant.
Specifically, for the bank borrowings which g HREsRTAKEER
contain a repayment on demand clause BRITEMNEEREEGRER IR
which can be exercised at the banks’ sole TEE TR IEAEER
discretion, the analysis shows the cash HEREFHNZEBRBNRER
outflow based on the earliest period in which o B BRCER A 1T 5 B A IR R R
the Group can be required to pay, that is if BB s [ B R e
the lenders were to invoke their unconditional
rights to call the loans with immediate effect.
Between Between
On Less than 1 and 2 2 and 5
demand 1 year years years
nF ¥
BERE DIR-—F —-ZE-F =—FEIF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET FET TET
Group |
At 31st March, 2012 R=-TB—-——F
=A=+-H
Borrowings o 189,775 12,450 11,700 17,667
Trade and bill payables 2 HREMNER KR
=4 — 110,614 — —
Other payables H At JE A 5K — 33,994 — —
Derivative financial instruments 74 & &l T & — 2,536 — —
Interest payable FEASHFIE 11,412 1,048 724 756
201,187 160,642 12,424 18,423
At 31st March, 2011 R-TB——4&F
ZA=+—H
Borrowings BE 133,356 35,476 22,836 22,725
Trade and bill payables BEHRNERR
2 — 154,973 — _
Other payables H b & < 3K — 18,391 - —
Derivative financial instruments #7744/ T E = 3,349 == =
Interest payable J& A5 ) B, 3,667 1,408 752 468
137,023 213,597 23,588 23,193
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

3.2

Financial risk factors (Continued)
(¢)  Liquidity risk (Continued)

Company

At 31st March, 2012

Other payables

Amounts due to subsidiaries

At 31st March, 2011
Other payables
Amounts due to subsidiaries

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and
to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce

the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue

new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the net
gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt
divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as
total borrowings (including current and non-current
borrowings as shown in the consolidated statement
of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents.

Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’, as shown in

the consolidated statement of financial position.

Bt %5 3R M &

3

B 75 L B B R (4E)
3.1 BIBEREZE(E)
0 FEBELEE(E)
Less than
1 year
PR—F
HK$’000
FET
AT
R-EB-—=-—H=ZA=+—H
H i FE S 3R 93
JRE A BT /88 xR 3RIE 43,244
43,337
R-ZB——F%=H=+-—H
E b B 3K 83
B A RRIE 61,827
61,910
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

Bt %5 3R M &

3 MERREEE

91

3.2 Capital risk management (Continued) 32 EXEBRER(E)
During 2012, the Group’s strategy, which was RZEBE-—ZFERN AEE2KE(E
unchanged from 2011, was to maintain a net - —FRUEYE) AEFFAE
gearing ratio less than 75%. The net gearing ratios HERLDRI% R _BE-——FR-F
at 31st March, 2012 and 2011 were as follows: ——&ZA=+—HZFaELERNT :
2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FET
Borrowings (Note 23) A& (M sE23) 231,592 214,393
Bill payables EEE 2,819 7,733
Total borrowings BE EE 234,411 222,126
Less: Bank balances and B RITEFERRSE
cash (Note 22) (P 5%22) (210,427) (196,745)
Net debt B F 8 23,984 25,381
Total equity ERER 555,149 583,117
Net gearing ratio FEERLE 4% 4%
3.3 Fair value estimation 33 AFREZME

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets
including cash and cash equivalents, trade and bill
receivables, deposits and financial liabilities
including trade and bill payables, other payables
and short-term bank borrowings, approximate their

fair values due to their short-term maturities.

The Group’s financial instruments are measured in
the statement of financial position at fair value. The

fair value measurement hierarchies are as follows:

—  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets

for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

—  Inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from

prices) (level 2).

— Inputs for the asset or liability that are not

based on observable market data (that is,

unobservable inputs) (level 3).

rEBZUBEE BREREEASS
B BSRUERARRE ZEURY
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BNFREREHRTRE ARHARR
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
The following table presents the Group’s assets and

liabilities that are measured at fair value at 31st

March, 2012.

Assets BE
Available-for-sale financial assets 7] it H &8 & & &
Liabilities =R

Derivative financial instruments EEMITAE

The following table presents the Group’s assets and

liabilities that are measured at fair value at 31st

March, 2011.

Assets EE
Available-for-sale financial assets ] fit {1 & Bf # & &
Liabilities =R

Derivative financial instruments fTEemMIT A

The fair value of financial instruments traded in
active markets is based on quoted market prices at
the end of reporting period. A market is regarded as
active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and
those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The
quoted market price used for financial assets held
by the Group is the current bid price. These
instruments are included in level 1. Instruments
included in level 1 comprise primarily listed equity

investments classified as available-for-sale financial

assets.

Bt %5 3R M &

3 BERKBERE(E)
3.3 DR EZMEE (&)
TREWNAEENR=-_Z—Z_FTF=H
—+—HUAFEFENEEREBE:-

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—R Bo® E=#& Ey
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET FET FET
1,400 — — 1,400

— 2,536 — 2,536

TREINAEER-_ZT-——F=H
=t—RUAAFEAENEERAG -

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FE— <l E= w@Et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHT FHET FHET
1,433 — — 1,433
— 3,349 — 3,349
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market (for example, over-the-
counter derivatives) is determined by using valuation
techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the
use of observable market data where it is available
and rely as little as possible on entity specific
estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair
value an instrument are observable, the instrument

is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based
on observable market data, the instrument is

included in level 3.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be

reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are

addressed below.

(@) Trade receivables
The Group’s management determines the provision
for impairment of trade receivables based on an
assessment of the recoverability of the receivables.
This assessment is based on the credit history of its
customers and other debtors and current market
conditions, and requires the use of judgements and

estimates. Management reassesses the provision at

the end of each reporting period.
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4

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(b)

()

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the worldwide provision for income
taxes. There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the current and deferred
income tax assets and liabilities in the period in
which such determination is made. Deferred tax
assets relating to certain temporary differences and
tax losses are recognised when management
considers it is likely that future taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences
or tax losses can be utilised. Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact the recognition of deferred
tax assets and income tax in the period in which

such estimate is changed.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated costs of completion and variable selling
expenses. These estimates are based on current
market conditions and the historical experience of
manufacturing and selling products of a similar
nature. It could change significantly as a result of
changes in customer taste and competitor actions in

response to industry cycles. Management reassesses

these estimates at the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4  Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(d)

(e)

Estimated useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

Management of the Group determines the estimated
useful lives, residual values and related depreciation
charges for its property, plant and equipment with
reference to the estimated periods that the Group
intends to derive future economic benefits from the
use of these assets. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives of
property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions. Management will revise the depreciation
charge where useful lives or residual values are
different from those previously estimated. Actual
economic lives may differ from estimated useful
lives and actual residual values may differ from
estimated residual values. Periodic review could
result in a change in depreciable lives and residual
values and therefore depreciation expense in the

future periods.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. The recoverable amounts
have been determined based on value-in-use
calculations or fair value less costs to sell. These
calculations require the use of judgements and

estimates.

Management judgement is required in the area of
asset impairment particularly in assessing: (i)
whether an event has occurred that may indicate
that the related asset values may not be recoverable;
(ii) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, being the
higher of fair value less costs to sell and net present
value of future cash flows which are estimated
based upon the continued use of the asset in the
business; and (iii) the appropriate key assumptions
to be applied in preparing cash flow projections

including whether these cash flow projections are

discounted using an appropriate rate (note 16).
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4

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(e)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
(Continued)

An impairment
HK$27,755,000 has been recognised in respect of

the property, plant and machinery, which were used

charge of approximately

in Eastern China in 2012, resulting in the carrying
amount of the property, plant and machinery being

written down to its recoverable amount.

Changing the assumptions selected by management
in assessing impairment, including the discount rates
or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the net present
value used in the impairment test and as a result
affect the Group’s financial position and results of

operations.

If the estimated sales growth rate in 2013 used in
the value-in-use calculation for Eastern China had
been 2% lower than management’s estimates at 31st
March, 2012 (for example: 8% instead of 10%) with
all other variables held constant, the Group would
have recognised a further impairment charge for
property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$1,214,000.

If the estimated cost of capital used in determining
the discount rate for the Eastern China had been 1%
higher than management’s estimates at 31st March,
2012 (for example, 14% instead of 13%) with all
other variables held constant, the Group would

have recognised a further impairment charge for

property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$4,206,000.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5  Revenue and segment information
The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the printing and
manufacturing of packaging materials, labels and paper

products, including environmental friendly paper products.

(@) Revenue/Turnover is analysed as follows:

2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT TEL

Sales of packaging materials, labels and HEBREME  ZH -

paper products, including environmental — RAAIER R - BIF

friendly paper products RIREEE®R 1,332,029 1,519,552
Others Hfb 27,647 25,686
1,359,676 1,545,238

(b) Segment information
The chief operating decision-maker has been
identified as the Chairman/Chief Executive Officer
of the Company. Operating segments are reported in
a manner consistent with the internal reporting
provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The
Chairman/Chief Executive Officer of the Company
reviews the Group’s internal reporting in order to
assess performance and allocate resources.
Management has determined the operating segments

based on these reports.

The Chairman/Chief Executive Officer of the
Company considers the business from a geographical
perspective, i.e. determined by the location of major
factory plants including Southern China, Eastern
China and South East Asia,

performance based on revenue, operating profit/

and assesses

(loss), net profit/(loss), capital expenditure, assets

and liabilities.
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5

Revenue and segment information (Continued) 5 WA R % %BE R (F)

(b)

Segment information (Continued)

(M)

by 2HERE)

The segment results for the year ended 31st (i) BE T ——Fr_FT——F=

March, 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

For the year ended
31st March, 2012

Total revenue
Segment revenue

Revenue (from external customers)
Operating (loss)/profit

Finance income

Finance costs

Income tax expense

(Loss)/profit for the year

Other information :

Depreciation and amortisation

for the year
Capital expenditure

Impairment of property, plant and

equipment

A=t—BItFEZDHEEN
T

Southern Eastern South East
China China Asia Group
Eg ER R %
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000
THER THERT FTHER THER

—E-—F

ZA=Z+-BLEE

FEE N 1,024,206 260,116 204,308 1,488,630
2 EBUA (899) (128,055) —  (128,954)

WACRBEINBER) 1,023,307 132,061 204,308 1,359,676

Ak (IR A (11,609) (19,4100 18,375  (12,644)
BME KA 244 135 43 422
BB KA (6,485) (1,833) (73) (8,391)
FriERimx (956) (623) (1,933) (3,512)
FR(EBE),/EF (18,806)  (21,731) 16,412 (24,125)
Hitgs :

FAMEREH

35,721 26,203 4,700 66,624

EWNEET 37,937 2,850 31,738 72,525

—  (27,755) —  (27,755)
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5  Revenue and segment information (Continued) 5 WAR S HER (F)
(b)  Segment information (Continued) by oBEH ()

(i) The segment results for the year ended 31st (i) BE T ——Fh_FT——F=
March, 2012 and 2011 are as follows: R=+—HLEFEZDEEWN
(Continued) ™ (8)

Southern Eastern South East
China China Asia Group
Eig ER E L]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000  HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FHT
For the year ended —E-—-F
31st March, 2011 =ZA=+-HLEE
Total revenue @A 1,182,884 248,753 211,889 1,643,526
Segment revenue 2 EBAA (8,396)  (89,040) (852)  (98,288)
Revenue (from external customers) LONCISE S350 1,174,488 159,713 211,037 1,545,238
Operating profit/(loss) mEER (BE) 44,734 (8,939) 10,652 46,447
Finance income it & WA 166 112 79 357
Finance costs BB R (7,385) (2,371) — (9,756)
Income tax expense Frisfimx (9,455) (843) (1,690)  (11,988)
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF/(FE) 28,060 (12,041) 9,041 25,060
Other information: HE#EH :
Depreciation and amortisation FRHE R H
for the year 35,368 24,332 4,286 63,986
Capital expenditure BAAREX 23,864 8,932 5,498 38,294
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5  Revenue and segment information (Continued) 5

(b) Segment information (Continued)

(if)

An analysis of the Group’s assets and
liabilities by segment as at 31st March, 2012

and 2011 is as follows:

As at 31st March, 2012

Segment assets
Deferred income tax assets
Tax recoverable

Total assets

Segment liabilities
Deferred income tax liabilities
Tax payable

Total liabilities

As at 31st March, 2011

Segment assets
Deferred income tax assets
Tax recoverable

Total assets
Segment liabilities
Deferred income tax liabilities

Tax payable

Total liabilities

H-B-=%
=A=+-A

NHEE
BIEMREHAE
AT YR B P S 7 3
BEE
NEAE
BRERGHARE
JE B

BaE

RZB——#&
=Z=B=+-H

NHEE
BEMEHRERE
BEAEREEEE
BEE
NEAE
BIERGHAE
J& R B

BAaR

Revenues of approximately HK$151,385,000
(2011: HK$156,562,000) are derived from a

single external customer. These revenues are

attributable to the Southern China segment.

Bt %5 3R M &

WA RDEHER (&)
(b) 7 EER (E)

iy RZE—=-—FR-_ZT——F=H
—t+—HIEFEREBEZHHBE

ERABAFMOT -

Southern Eastern South East
China China Asia Group
#E R REZ |
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THERT THERT THER THET
621,102 234,265 156,349 1,011,716
56 2,122 — 2,178
122 — — 122
621,280 236,387 156,349 1,014,016
320,652 57,843 41,147 419,642
7,309 — 3,272 10,581
25,303 123 3,218 28,644
353,264 57,966 47,637 458,867

Southern Eastern South East
China China Asia Group
B 3 RED 3]
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET TAET TAET FET
640,495 291,081 133,456 1,065,032
178 2,370 — 2,548
51 — — 51
640,724 293,451 133,456 1,067,631
329,850 82,669 28,295 440,814
9,156 — 3,807 12,963
27,036 — 3,701 30,737
366,042 82,669 35,803 484,514

#7151,385,0008 0 (ZF — —F :
156,562,0007% 7T) B W A TR B —
BE—IREF HLEKABR

EHH -
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Other gains — net

Net exchange gains/(losses)

Fair value gains on foreign exchange forward
contracts

Net losses on disposals of property, plant and
equipment

Write back of provision for impairment of
property, plant and equipment

Gain on disposal of trademark

Others

Expenses by nature

Raw materials and consumables used

Changes in inventories of finished goods and
work in progress

Sub-contracting charges

Repairs and maintenance

Freight and transportation

Employment costs (including directors’
emoluments) (note 9)

Operating lease rentals of premises
charged by
— third parties
— related parties (note 33)

Provision for/(write back of) impairment of
receivables

(Write back of)/provision for inventory
obsolescence

Amortisation of land use rights

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Auditor’s remuneration

Other expenses

Total cost of sales, selling and distribution costs,

and general and administrative expenses

Bt %5 3R M &

6 Hfttlzx — FHE

B W (5 1R) 38

EHNEANDTE
Y s

HEME BERREZ
B 185 58

WE - BERRERE
o]

i AR

Htt

7 BMEIDSZEX

R KB R am R
U R ERRFEES

MIER
HIERE
EagBH
BEIRAN(BEEEHE)
(P 3E9)
HAMECERE Y
HeIHF
—F=%
— BiE AL (H7E33)
JE UK BR FOR E B, (B

T &R E (E ) /B

o 4 (5 P AR

ME - BERREIINE
% LA B 2

HAth 5 X2

HERKN HERDHER
R—RRETRAXAE

2012 2011
HK$/000 HK$/000
FET FHET
1,871 (1,202)
— 66
(51) (10)
— 392
— 225
2,072 1,891
3,892 1,362
2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
676,407 834,662
11,137 (951)
33,682 47,601
16,499 18,548
39,402 58,438
370,513 355,240
19,846 18,458
66 63
2,678 (10,968)
(546) 2,823
744 712
65,880 63,274
2,375 2,099
109,774 110,154
1,348,457 1,500,153
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8  Finance costs — net 8 ®BEAEX — FH
2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FET
Interest expense on bank borrowings RITELE BB X
— wholly repayable within five years — BARAFAZHEER 7,361 8,137
— not wholly repayable within five years — BERDFRNEHER 88 3
Fair value (gain)/loss on interest-rate swaps F=iZEH A GH A A
(Hzs) /i
— realised _B2ER 1,756 1,768
— unrealised — MARER (814) (152)
8,391 9,756
Interest income from bank deposits RITHERF B WA (422) (357)
7,969 9,399
The analysis shows the finance costs of bank borrowings, FHATEKRBREREHFEETENHEE
including term loans which contain a repayment on HAEH 2IRTHME(EESEEREXEER
demand clause, in accordance with the agreed scheduled GRZEHEFTHNBEXRAR - R_T——F
repayments dates set out in the loan agreements. For the EZFT——F=A=+—H BEEEXE
years ended 31st March, 2012 and 2011, the interest on BERRMBITHRENT E 5 B AE5976,0007
bank borrowings which contain a repayment on demand 7T }%5,332,0007% 7T ©

clause amounted to HK$5,976,000 and HK$5,332,000

respectively.

9  Employment costs (including directors’ 9 BIFRKEBEEE#WS)
emoluments)

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET TET

Salaries, wages and allowances e ITERRER 331,934 318,393

Discretionary bonus B HRE Z EA 4,404 6,253

Pension costs — defined contribution plans BRKA — R EHREE 17,310 16,075
Provision for long service payments REBRB e RFRZBE

and annual leave 2,539 —

Share-based payments fi& 1 3% 1 B 4 33

Other welfare and benefits H At 48 7 B Bl 2 14,322 14,486

370,513 355,240
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Employment costs (including directors’
emoluments) (Continued)

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to
join the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”), which is a defined contribution scheme
managed by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme,
each of the group companies (the employer) and its
employees make monthly contributions to the scheme at
5% of the employees’ earnings as defined under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. The monthly
contributions of each of the employer and the employee
are subject to a cap of HK$1,000 and thereafter

contributions are voluntary.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China,
group companies operating in Mainland China contribute
to state-sponsored retirement plans for their employees.
The employees contribute approximately 8% to 11% of
their basic salaries, while the group companies contribute
approximately 11% to 33% of the basic salaries of their
employees and have no further obligations for the actual
payment of pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond
the annual contributions. The state-sponsored retirement
plans are responsible for the entire pension obligations

payable to retired employees.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Singapore, the
group company operating in Singapore contributes to the
Singapore Central Provident Fund, a statutory pension
scheme. Under the scheme, the employees contribute
approximately 5% to 20% of their wages, while the group
company contributes approximately 6% to 16% of the
wages of its employees. The employer’s and employees’
contributions are subject to a cap of ordinary wages of
SGD5,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$31,000).

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Malaysia, the
group company operating in Malaysia contributes to the
Malaysia Central Provident Fund, a statutory pension
scheme. Under the scheme, the employees contribute
approximately 8% to 11% of their wages, while the group
company contributes approximately 12% of the wages of

its employees. The employer’s and employees’ contributions

are not subject to a cap.

Bt %5 3R M &

BETRA(BEESEHS) (&)

AEEERBEEBEIZ2MABHIEREST S
(B8] ZFHE AR EHRLAE L
ERAEE - REBESHE  SEELAF (R
DEREEEEARFREERHAALR(ZR
HIEAEEET G 2 EE) 25% - MEE
LEBMH®FE A Z LRB X /1,000 T i
BERMHFBBERMEHER -

BEFRBEER AEERFEAEBHZA A
AHEEBRY —FAATHARLBERRENH
BAReHE - BIZHABORELAT @2
K8%ZE11%  MEBRAR 2 HAEBELHORERE
BEAF S ZH11%E33% ° B FEH—ZIN -
SEHRRARERNERES N RIERERF
THAEaFMEFT ZEHBEREPHRAKS
ATEAEYEREEBNMMBRKESET -

REBEFMBEER AEBRTMBEELZ
DARNERRE—FEARAFTNMEFRAES
K ETERINEETE - ZZE - EEHNESR
e ZHI5%E20% - MEER R 2 #HRER
BEH & 2H6%E16%  EEREEBHK
2 ER AT R E®F £50005 M HER
4931,0007 7T.) °

BEERALER AEEREREEAE
BZHRAHEHRAE—EEABRAZHR
AESHETRKSE - KT8 BEEH
HBEAF S ZH8%EN%  MEBRF ZH#
REEREEFS 2% BREREE ZH#
O R o
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10 Directors’ and senior executives’ emoluments 10 EERSRITHAEMS

(@) Directors’ emoluments @ EZ#HWs
The remuneration of each Director of the Company —E——FRZFT——F=A=+—H
for the years ended 31st March, 2012 and 2011 is EFERRRISEST 2 HMEFBOT

set out below:

Pension
costs-defined
Salaries and Discretionary  contribution  Share-based

Name of Director Espg Fees  allowances bonus plans payments Total
BIKEA
BHRE —RE BB =4
ne FHEREH ZA B e @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET THET TR THEL TR T

For the year ended “B--F=H

31st March, 2012 =+-ALEE
Executive Directors HITEZ
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu M mEE 138 3,400 370 65 — 3,973
Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus BEBELEE 88 1,171 125 31 — 1,415
Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles SR % & 88 1,663 175 41 — 1,967
Non-Executive Director FUMTESF
Ms. Yeung Chui (Note (i)) BR L (M) 109 1,175 172 28 — 1,484

Independent Non-Executive BUFNTES

Directors
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael [ 5t & & 260 — — — — 260
Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, — S035E © 8BS
BBS, JP A Fat 150 — — — — 150
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny 3% A& 150 — — — — 150
983 7,409 842 165 — 9,399
For the year ended —E--f=f
31st March, 2011 =+-ALEE
Executive Directors HTER
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu WAL E 138 3,400 201 69 — 3,808
Ms. Yeung Chui BELL 88 2,806 159 66 — 3,119
Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus BEELE 88 1,171 65 31 5 1,360
Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles &A% %t & 88 1,513 85 38 5 1,729
Mr. Lim Pheck Wan, Richard — #R 2B 45 4 (B 55(ii))
(Note (ii)) 110 1,426 146 — 5 1,687
Independent Non-Executive BUFNTES
Directors
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael [R# % %t & 260 — — — — 260
Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, — S03#f /% - 885,
BBS, JP XFH1+ 150 — — — — 150
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny B IELAE 150 — — — — 150
1,072 10,316 656 204 15 12,263
Note (i):  Re-designated as Non-Executive Director on 1st September, 2011. All rights MG : RZB-——FNAA-BABRERITES -
and interests of a medical insurance policy of approximately HK$936,000 — 53 #8 18 #9936,0007% 7T #) B 7% {R I 40 1 7
have transferred and assigned to Ms. Yeung Chui. ERESEEHBREREBEL L -

(ii):  Resigned on 1st April, 2011 (i): R=TB——FEHA—BBE
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10 Directors’ and senior executives’ emoluments
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Share-based payments

The share-based payments represent charges to the
income statement of the fair value of the share
options under the share option scheme measured at
the respective grant dates, regardless of whether the

share options are or will be exercised or not.

No director waived any emolument during the year
ended 31st March, 2012 (2011: Nil).

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group include three (2011: five)
Executive Directors and one Non-Executive Director
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis
presented above. The emoluments paid or payable
to the remaining one (2011: Nil) individual during
the vyear fell within the band between Nil and
HK$1,000,000.

During the year ended 31st March, 2012, no
emoluments were paid by the Company to any of
the directors or the five highest paid individuals as

an inducement to join or upon joining the Group

or as compensation for loss of office (2011: Nil).

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Bt %5 3R M &

10 EERERTHRAEME ()

BROXTHE
ERBERBEESRERTE  BHXH
e AIREBEETBRB OB ARE
BARKE B BARFER KSR T 5
fERI S °

TR - F-A=t—HLEFEAME
EERMEAME (CF——F &) -

EfUESHEAL
AEBRLUREHFALH LR
B URFRTESR (T ——F:
) HEE B &8N L n i -
FRNENKENHT —A(CT——%F:
) HMeRTE—BBELEAR -

R-ZE——FZA=Z+—HILEFER"
BMERERNEFdSEaHFscALATE
NMeIEARBEMARNER 2 Bk
EREAEBUZEERE(ZT ——F:
') o
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11

Income tax expense

The Company is exempted from taxation in Bermuda until
2016. The Company’s subsidiaries established in the British
Virgin Islands are incorporated under the International
Business Companies Acts of the British Virgin Islands and,
accordingly, are exempted from British Virgin Islands

income taxes.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% (2011: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit

for the year arising in or derived from Hong Kong.

Subsidiaries established and operated in Mainland China
are subject to the Mainland China Corporate Income Tax
at rates ranging from 12.5% to 25% during the year (2011:
12.5% to 25%). In accordance with the applicable laws
and regulations, the Group’s subsidiaries established in
Mainland China as wholly foreign owned enterprises or
contractual joint ventures are entitled to full exemption
from Corporate Income Tax for the first two years and a
50% reduction in Corporate Income Tax for the next three
years, commencing from the first profitable year or Tst
January, 2008, whichever is earlier, after offsetting

unexpired tax losses carried forward from previous years.

Pursuant to the Detailed Implementation Regulations for
implementation of the Corporate Income Tax Law issued
on 6th December, 2007, withholding income tax of 10%
shall be levied on the dividends remitted by the
companies established in Mainland China to their foreign
investors starting from 1st January, 2008. All dividends
paid from profits generated by Mainland China companies
after 1st January, 2008 shall be subject to this withholding
income tax. As at 31st March, 2012, the Group had not
accrued any withholding income tax for the earnings from
1st January, 2008 to 31st March, 2012 of its Mainland
China subsidiaries because the Group did not have any
plans to distribute earnings from its Mainland China
subsidiaries generated in the period from 1st January, 2008
to 31st March, 2012 in the foreseeable future.

The subsidiary established in Singapore is subject to

Singapore Corporate Income Tax at a rate of 17% (2011:
17%).

Bt %5 3R M &

11

FreBipx

AR ERGHMMERENA EE-T
—ARERIE-ADAREBEETE SR
MEMBRARADEEEBEAREEEARE
BARREMMAL - Fi - B AR g
BRESHMEH -

BEBEFEBHRAB ERI65%(=ZF — —&F
16.5% ) 1B E B & ¥ 2 et R BUE T &
B

ERBERYREEZHBRARIRAF E AR
12.5%%825% (= T — — F 1 12.5%%25%) %t
TP B DEMEH - BIBBBBERTE -
BAR 3% 5 AN 5 B 78 B Bk 32 9 BT BB A /) B Ak
BAEBECEXPIIEGELE HERHEBD
FEMARIBEANBEEEEN G EER
FER-ZZTN\F-A—BRFAUREES
) EMFAEREHNCEMSH  mME
B=FRIEYR-

BiE - ZZ+F+-ANEEMNTEAR
ERMBECEMESREEREN RN
F-—A—BFKE FAERPERINDEY
BIMEE E D IRKR B EBRBI0%TEIRFTE R
FBERPEKINGCES R /N\F— A
—BEBEHFEOREARKIEIRAER
R-ZE——F=ZA=+—B A£BEL K5
EHREKYAOMNBARR -_EENF—A—
BHE-_Z——F#=ZA=1+—HHEHIMHOHN
BRI RAMBERAER AEAEERAER
B ¥ 3R+ I 4 AT A 5T 81 9 R 7E R B AR ST A B
BRAARZEENF—A—HEZZT—Z=F
“AZ T —AHRMMFIE-

RET IR 2 M B A RIRINE S EE
BHEEI7%(ZE——F - 17%) B -
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11  Income tax expense (Continued) 11 PSP ()
The amount of income tax charged to the consolidated RiFEREERPHROTESRE
income statement represents:
2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FET
Current income tax expense BUVER B 15 B B 52
— Hong Kong profits tax — BBMEH 2,899 6,200
— Mainland China Corporate Income Tax — PRECEMEH 857 4,131
— Singapore Corporate Income Tax — F B EMSH 3,232 2,420
Overprovision in prior years BEFEBEEE (1,546) (4,562)
5,442 8,189
Deferred income tax (note 25) BRI PTASFL (B 7225) (1,930) 3,799
3,512 11,988
The tax on the Group’s (loss)/profit before income tax AEBMZBRBA(ER),GFFEHEHR
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using BRARAEERBEMNZ METFHAREGFE
the weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the ZEREBEBEMER  HHEBRWT -
group companies as follows:
2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT FHET
(Loss)/profit before income tax B FL AT (E518) % A (20,613) 37,048
Tax calculated at domestic tax rate applicable to  ZFFE B KR M@ 2 & H
profits in the respective countries/jurisdictions MEMEHEZMBEH (4,245) 7,382
Tax exemption HEER (342) (442)
Income not subject to tax MmARBIA (396) (437)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR HIB X H 4,853 5,874
Deferred tax assets not recognised RERZELEFRFSHEE 5,192 1,091
Utilisation of previously unrecognised deferred tax f B LAfE R R Z BT
assets FisHEE @ (142)
Effects of changes in tax rate HEEENFE — (150)
Overprovision in prior years BAEFEBHERE (1,546) (4,562)
Reversal of tax losses recognised Bl B R B 5 A — 3,374
Tax charge MEXH 3,512 11,988
The weighted average applicable tax rate was 20.6% (2011: R Z DN F 15 TR K 320.6% (—F — —F ¢
19.9%). The increase is mainly caused by the increase in 19.9%)  WIEMEBZHRPBECEMSHN
the Mainland China tax rate. S & AR e
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12 Profit attributable to the equity holders of the
Company
Profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company is

dealt with in the financial statements of the Company to
the extent of HK$7,767,000 (2011: HK$24,678,000).

13 (Losses)/earnings per share
Basic
Basic (losses)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing
the Group’s (losses)/profit attributable to the equity holders
of the Company by the weighted average number of

ordinary shares in issue during the year.

(Loss)/profit attributable to the equity holders of
the Company (HK$'000)

Bt %5 3R M &

12

13

AAREHBTEARGEER

KNG EFZFAEABERENERARQ BTG
WMEANEREZ R A AK7,767,0008 T(ZF
—— % 124,678,000/ 7T ) °

BR(EER) BR

%N
SRER(ER) /BT THERE R AR D R
BA AL (BR) EFB LSBT
LR TR

KRR EmIFHE AEME
(B8 & (FET)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in B 17 @& 2 i FHE

issue (‘000)

Basic (losses)/earnings per share (HK cents)

Diluted

Diluted (losses)/earnings per share is calculated by
adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding assuming conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares. Shares issuable under the employee share
option scheme are the only dilutive potential ordinary
shares. A calculation is made in order to determine the
number of shares that could have been acquired at fair
value (determined as the average daily market share price
of the Company’s shares) based on the monetary value of
the subscription rights attached to the outstanding share
options. The number of shares calculated as above is
compared with the number of shares that would have
been issued assuming the exercise of the share options.
The computation of diluted (losses)/earnings per share does
not assume the exercise of the outstanding share options

as the exercise price of these options is higher than the

average market price for shares.

(F B0

FREA(BR) /BB

2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTEx TAT
(24,125) 25,060
525,135 524,137
(4.59) 4.78

#E

FhEFER BN BRAE T #E
MEEEBREESRRE CHESHTER
Bz iEFI B E - RIBEREEAT T
BOZBORE—EXNEERE2EEER
BoFETENBRERTEBREMM SR
BRZEREE TERATFEGRARFRND
FHEgEMEEE) KRB ZRMOEAE - Las
HZBROBESHABRRITEERERES
TZROHBELB -FESREE(HR),/
BN EBRERTENBERESRTR
At EBERENTRESNEGRTHTISE -
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13

14

(Losses)/earnings per share (Continued)

Diluted (Continued)

(Loss)/profit attributable to the equity holders of
the Company (HK$'000)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue (‘000)

Adjustments for share options (‘000)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for

diluted (losses)/earnings per share (‘000)

Diluted (losses)/earnings per share (HK cents)

Dividends

Interim dividend — HK$0.01 (2011: HK$0.01)

per share

Proposed final dividend — HK$0.01 (2011:
HK$0.015) per share

Bt %5 3R M &

13 SR(ER)BRGE)

#5E (&)
2012 2011
HK$/000 HK$’000
FET FHIT
ARARIEZFE AEMN
(BB, (FEx) 24,125 25,060
BEITEBRZ MEFIIE
(FA) 525,135 524,137
B A (TR — 4,826
ATEEREE (BB B
BE@ER e mEFHH(TR) 525135 528963
TREE (BB, 8F W) (4.59) 4.74
14 KRE
2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
FHEIRE — B
BEML(ZE——F
FRAEEBIL) 5,251 5,251
BRAEEE — TR
BEML(ZE——F ¢
R B .5(00) 5,251 7,877
10,502 13,128

At a meeting held on 28th June, 2012, the directors
proposed a final dividend of HK1 cent per share,
amounting to a total dividend of approximately
HK$5,251,000, which is to be approved by the Company’s
equity holders at the Company’s upcoming Annual General
Meeting. This proposed final dividend has not been
reflected as a dividend payable in these consolidated
financial statements as at 31st March, 2012, but has been
reflected as an appropriation of distributable reserves
during the year ended 31st March, 2012.

The amount of proposed final dividend for 2012 was
based on 525,135,288 shares in issue as at 28th June,
2012.

RZT—=—F~AA-+/\BEHEEgH -
EERFRERABE  SRABBEUL B E
48 %8 £95,251,000% 7T 5 R FEJE R R B F K
CREAQNAESZFEASTHE  KERER
HRERBE-_E——_E=A=+—H2&
AHMBERELERRAEMRE - BDIIE
Hze 22— —F=-A=+—HLEFEADIK
HHEZAE -

—E-—FREKARERERERE-_ZT—=-F
ANAZ+N\BEAEB #7178 A525,135,2888%
FTE -
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15 Land use rights 15 AR
The Group’s interests in land use rights represent prepaid AEERLTHFARNESEBRNEEREE
operating lease payments and their net book amounts are REREERFE  2THOT

analysed as follows:

In Mainland China held on: IRhEEE

Land use rights of between 10 to 50 years 102505 2 £ 0 A 1
At Tst April REA—A

Amortisation beis !

Translation adjustments E X AR

At 31st March R=ZA=+—H
Amortisation expense recognised in the consolidated NG R

income statement is analysed as follows:

Cost of sales & AR
General and administrative expenses — M RITHAX

2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET THET
26,854 26,743
2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$'000
THER THAT
26,743 26,448
(744) (712)
855 1,007
26,854 26,743

SRR ZEEF 2T

2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET THET
12 12

732 700

744 712
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16 Property, plant and equipment 16 YE -BERZE
Land and Plant and  Furniture and Construction
buildings machinery equipment Motor vehicles in progress Total
T KRBT R BRRRE RE EERIRE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FET FET

Year ended 31st March, 2011 #HZE—-ZT——4

ZA=t+-RLFE
Opening net book value FYREFE 144,748 283,870 8,426 4,229 1,811 443,084
Additions wE 20 43,280 2,211 601 5,750 51,862
Depreciation e (6,958) (51,887) (3,254) (1,175) — (63,274)
Disposals e — (3) (24) (36) — (63)
Write-back of impairment Rl & [B) 392 — — — — 392
Transfers [EE 5,070 1,764 (6) 155 (6,983) —
Translation adjustments ER AR 4,467 9,579 222 84 49 14,401
Closing net book value FREEFE 147,739 286,603 7,575 3,858 627 446,402
At 31st March, 2011 T ——F

=A=+—8
Cost AR 200,740 850,954 58,639 15,288 627 1,126,248
Accumulated depreciation and 2 547 & K&

impairment (53,001) (564,351) (51,064) (11,430) — (679,846)

Net book value EEEE 147,739 286,603 7,575 3,858 627 446,402

Year ended 31st March, 2012 #HZE—-Z——4%

ZA=+—HIEFE
Opening net book value FYREFE 147,739 286,603 7,575 3,858 627 446,402
Additions RE 32,210 34,234 1,700 463 1,411 70,018
Depreciation E (7,590) (54,910) (2,244) (1,136) — (65,880)
Disposals HE — (35) (15) (1 — (51)
Provision for impairment FERE — (27,755) — — — (27,755)
Transfers [y 160 106 88 — (354) —
Translation adjustments JE R T 3,742 5,168 141 68 38 9,157
Closing net book value FEREEERE 176,261 243,411 7,245 3,252 1,722 431,891
At 31st March, 2012 T F

=A=+—8
Cost KA 238,021 896,462 60,917 16,160 1,722 1,213,282
Accumulated depreciation and 2 547 & K #iE

impairment (61,760) (653,051) (53,672) (12,908) — (781,391)

Net book value BREDF(E 176,261 243,411 7,245 3,252 1,722 431,891
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16 Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 16 Y¥ WERXZMEE

The net book value of the Group’s interests in leasehold AEE EABMEHENHEL HERZZE

land classified as finance lease is analysed as follows: H¥E /|’

2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FET

In Hong Kong held on: LR EERES

Leases of between 10 to 50 years NF10E50F 0 HEE 2,931 3,019

(a)  Depreciation expense recognised in the consolidated @@ REEREXTEIZNER 97
income statement is analysed as follows: UM

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$'000

THERT TET

Cost of sales $H & B A 61,644 58,095
Selling and distribution costs HERDHER 475 550
General and administrative expenses —MERITEAX 3,761 4,629
65,880 63,274

(b)  Construction in progress mainly represents factories by EREIRFEEEFHREZINEER
and office buildings under construction and plant MAEEFMELEPHOESE -
and machinery under installation in Mainland
China.

() At 31st March, 2012, land and buildings with a (0 RZE—ZF=ZR=+—RH KEFE
total net book value of approximately HK$4,104,000 #44,104,000% T(= T — — F:
(2011: HK$4,220,000) were pledged as collateral 4,220,000 70) 2 L R EF AEARE
for the Group’s banking facilities (note 32). BR1TE B 2 MY B4R (P 5E32) -

Impairment assessment W AE R

During the year, the directors conducted a review of the FR EFRBWEEELAEENDE BER

Group’s property, plant and equipment based on geography RBERETERETYE BERREBEDHE -

and determined that certain property, plant and equipment

were impaired.

Impairment losses of approximately HK$27,755,000 have REREBNYE BERREOHCHERA

been recognised in respect of certain property, plant and 1B &5 18 4927,755,0007 7T ° & B & &= 7 A] W [

equipment, which were used in Eastern China. The BERECHERBRTE-

recoverable amounts of the relevant assets have been

determined on the basis of their value in use.
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Bt %5 3R M &

16  Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 16 Y¥ WERXZEE)
The value in use is determined using pre-tax cash flow FTRHEEREAKEEEEMHZN EFHIBKIE
projections based on the financial budgets approved by HAEOBMAIRSRAMERE -
management covering a seven-year period.
The key assumptions used for value in use calculations in RZE—ZFRHUFEFEAEENTIERR
2012 are as follows: (N
Southern China  Eastern China
#m® 39
Estimated sales growth rate in 2013: 2013F HEHERER 6% 10%
Estimated sales growth rate 20144F 220174 51
in 2014 to 2017: HEERER 4% 4%
Estimated sales growth rate 20184 ZE20194 fh 5+
in 2018 to 2019: HEERX 4% 4%
Discount rate: W= : 10% 13%
Management determined the above estimated sales growth ERERBTSERNEHMIRE L (A&
rates based on its expectations of market development. HELRE -
The discount rates used reflect specific risks relating to the RAZTHRERZABEED AN ERR
relevant operating segments.
17 Investments in and balances with subsidiaries 17 RHBATZRERGHE
— Company — AR F
2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FET
Investment in unlisted shares, at cost JE LT - RA R 91,449 91,449
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE YR B A Rl ERIE 161,316 183,806
252,765 275,255
Less: Accumulated impairment losses W REPREEE (10,284) (9,457)
242,481 265,798
Amounts due to subsidiaries JE < B 8 A B FOR (43,244) (61,827)

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest
free and considered as equity in nature. All amounts are

denominated in Hong Kong dollar.

The amounts due to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest
free and repayable on demand. Except for an amount of
approximately HK$1,080,000 (2011: HK$1,080,000) which

is denominated in Renminbi, the balances are

denominated in Hong Kong dollar.

FEA P B A R RIR T AR A EF R R AR AE
AR IEE - A RIBIAETTIINE

FERWBEARREBENERR TEREE
ZREE - BREFR —Z£ 491,080,000 T (ZF
— — % :1,080,0007% 7T) 89 R IE LA A REE FI(E
SN BB LA TTHIME -
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RHMBARIZREREE

— AATF (&)
RZBE—=—F=ZA=+—H FZEWBLQA
BRI

17 Investments in and balances with subsidiaries 17
— Company (Continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31st March,

2012 were as follows:

Name of company

DEEE

Starlite International (Holdings) Ltd.

Starlite Printers Holdings Cook Islands
Limited

Starlite Printers (Far East) Pte. Ltd.

Everfar Holdings Limited

Starlite Visual Communication Limited

EXBBREERAF

Star Union Limited

EBRARRAA

Starlite Consumer Products, Limited

Starlite Entertainment (Holdings) Limited

Starlite International Development
Limited

Starlite International Marketing Services
Limited

Starlite Laser Graphics Limited
EEFEHFOEHERAR

Place of incorporation
and operations

R AR I % & S it B

British Virgin Islands
REERARES

Cook Islands

MRS

Singapore

BN

British Virgin Islands
KEBEARES

Hong Kong
]

Hong Kong/Mainland China
BV

British Virgin Islands
KBERARES

British Virgin Islands
KBERARES

British Virgin Islands/
Hong Kong
HEBERRES /BE

British Virgin Islands/
Hong Kong
EBEBREE /BB

Hong Kong
B

Issued and fully paid
capital

ERITRBRRAE

Percentage of equity
interest held

FriERET 2t

Directly Indirectly
HE CiF:3

Us$2
2% T

100% —

US$200
200% 7T

100% —

$$8,759,396 100% —

8,759,39631 il # 7T

US$20,000 50% 50%
20,0003 7T

HK$2,000,000 —
2,000,0007% 7T

100%

HKS$2 —
28T

100%

USs$1 — 100%

1%7T

Us$1 —
1%7T

100%

US$1 —
17T

100%

US$1 — 100%

1%E7T

HK$3,230,000 —
ordinary
3,230,000/ 7T
i)
HK$170,000 — —
non-voting
deferred (i)
170,000/ 7T
EICREIRIT
B 45 (i)

100%

Principal activities

TEEH

Investment holding

BAEER

Investment holding

Printing of packaging
materials and production
of paper products

BEMHENR &R REE

Investment holding

BEER

Inactive

AR

Property holding
HEWE

Investment holding

AR

Investment holding

BRARE

Procurement agency

RERIERG

Procurement agency

RIBRIE R

Inactive

TR 1 %
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17

Investments in and balances with subsidiaries
— Company (Continued)

Name of company

RRER

Starlite Management Services Limited

Starlite Packaging Technology
Consultancy Limited

Starlite Development International
Limited
EXBREBEARAIA

Starlite Paper Products Limited
EBRERERAA

Starlite Printers Limited

BEHERIABRAF

Starlite Printers HK Holdings (BVI)
Limited

Starlite Printers (China) Limited
EXRER (RE)BERRAE

Starlite Printers (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
EXENRI CRYDBER AR

Starlite Printers (Suzhou) Co., Ltd.
EXER EMN) BRAF

Place of incorporation
and operations

SR S R S B

Hong Kong
&

British Virgin Islands
HRERRES

Hong Kong
R0

Hong Kong/Mainland China
w2/

Hong Kong
o)

British Virgin Islands
REERRES

British Virgin Islands
RBEBRES

Mainland China
&

Mainland China
*

Bt %5 3R M &

— A2 7 (&)

Issued and

fully paid capital
BRTRERRE
Directly

HE

HK$200 —
20078 7T

US$1 —
17T

HK$200 —
2007 7T

HK$1,738,000 —
ordinary
1,738,000/ 7T
BB

HK$262,000 —
non-voting
deferred (i)
262,000/8 7T
BIRRRRT
B2 (i)

HK$2,700,000 —
ordinary
2,700,0007% 7T
Edaligien)

HK$2,300,000 —
non-voting
deferred (i)
2,300,000/ 7T
EIRRERLT
&A% (i)

Us$1 —
1%7T

US$100 —
1003 7T

US$8,000,000 —
8,000,000% 7T

US$20,000,000 —
20,000,000% 7T

Percentage of equity
interest held

FiERET DL

Indirectly
&

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

17 RMBLARZRERGHR

Principal activities

ETEEHK

Provision of management
services

TRELE IR

Holding of trade and service
marks

KARSLRBEIER

Trading of paper products
HEHARES

Production of paper products

M E

Printing and trading of
packaging materials

BERMBEOREE S

Investment holding

BEER

Investment holding

Printing of packaging
materials and production
of paper products

B R EN R R A dm A EE

Printing of packaging
materials and production
of paper products and
labels

BEM B EN R R 4 G A
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17 Investments in and balances with subsidiaries 17 RHKBATDZHRERHEE

— Company (Continued) — AT ()
Place of incorporation Issued and Percentage of equity
Name of company and operations fully paid capital interest held Principal activities
AREB REA AR SL R Bt B BRTRERRE FiEREB DL FTEEK
Directly Indirectly
HiE Gik:3
Starlite Productions (Holdings) Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 — 100% Investment holding
HEBRBRES 1%7T REZK
Starlite Productions (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands US$256,420 — 100% Investment holding
HEERRES 256,420% 7T RAEK
Guangzhou Starlite Environmental Mainland China US$6,000,000 — 100% Production of environmental
Friendly Center, Limited i 6,000,0003 7T friendly and other paper
BEMNEXRIRRPOERRAF) products
EERREEMGAEER
Greenworks International Limited Hong Kong HK$2 — 100% Investment holding and
HEeTRREBAERLQR ] 28T trading of environmental
friendly and other paper
products
REEBRFRR R LA E
EREH
Shaoguan Fortune Creative Industries Mainland China US$6,400,000 — 100% Printing of packaging
Company Limited FE 6,400,000% 7T materials and production
HRNBASIEARAA of paper products
BEMBNR REREE
Note: B 3
(i) The non-voting deferred shares are not owned by the Group. These (i) HEERZEBEREROIFHAEBES - ILFER
shares have no voting rights and are not entitled to dividends unless BAEBMEER RIFAFRIAA ZMABB
the net profit of the relevant company exceeds HK$50,000,000,000 50,000,000,000/ 7T * BRI B AEEZHRE M
and are not entitled to any distributions upon winding up unless a FRARRBRE TERBEZAEMNSK BRIEEHA
sum of HK$50,000,000,000 has been distributed by the relevant B A 3 AR AR R R 2 90 R £150,000,000,00078 7T ©

company to the holders of its ordinary shares.

None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at FEMBARRBEZE-_T——F=A=1+—
any time during the year ended 31st March, 2012 (2011: AEFERTABEMOEERTEEER(Z
Nil). T——F 8-
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18

Available-for-sale financial assets 18 AHHENKEE
2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Beginning of the year F1) 1,433 1,251
Net change in fair values transferred to equity BREERAEZNRATFEER
R (33) 182
End of the year FR 1,400 1,433
Available-for-sale financial assets represent listed equity AHEEVBEERNREE LTHNEFILIA
securities in Hong Kong and are denominated in Hong EILHE -
Kong dollar.
As at 31st March, 2012 and 2011, all available-for-sale RZE—ZFR=ZFTE——F=ZA=+—8"

financial assets were stated at their market values. FEAHLEENKEEAUMISZEEZY
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19 Inventories 19 BE&
2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FAET
Raw materials R 55,154 80,077
Work-in-progress TR 18,835 26,071
Finished goods LR T 32,144 36,045
106,133 142,193
The cost of inventories expensed, and included in cost of 7&K ARG £ 4687,544,0008 T(ZF — —
sales amounted to HK$687,544,000 (2011: HK$833,711,000). F 1 833,711,000/ 7T) 51 VE 5 2 30 51 A 35 & BX
A o
During the year, the Group has written back a provision RAFER - K& B 81517 SR E 5o #&
for inventory obsolescence of approximately HK$546,000 #)546,00008 7T (=T — — F « #1#%2,823,0007%5
(2011: provision for HK$2,823,000), which was included To)  WEBE I AEEK A o
in cost of sales.
As at 31st March, 2012, there were floating charges over RZE——F=ZA=Z+—H AEBHE
certain of the Group’s inventories of approximately 35,858,000/% T (= & — — F : 46,844,000/
HK$35,858,000 (2011: HK$46,844,000) to secure the trust TIZEERERKEBEARTERTHER

receipts import bank loan arrangements (note 32). (M FE32) -
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Trade and bill receivables, prepayments and

Bt 5 3R R M &

20 ESEUWERRRRERE AARER

deposits k&
Group Company
L | A
2012 2011 2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT FET FAET
Trade receivables B o rEIER 220,943 239,593 — —
Less: provision for impairment & : & U BR TR B & &
of receivables (7,856) (5,148) - —
Trade receivables — net BoEIWER — 35 213,087 234,445 — —
Bill receivables rEEE 1,656 2,188 — —
Trade and bill receivables BHRWERNEE 214,743 236,633 — —
Prepayments and deposits BAZERZS 16,626 13,748 696 721
231,369 250,381 696 721

The carrying amounts of trade and bill receivables,

prepayments and deposits approximate their fair values.

The Group grants to its customers credit terms generally

ranging from 30 to 120 days. The ageing of trade and bill

SEATEREEEHR — B AOKREI0ORT
Z-BEFRUBERREBZERZEREA)

receivables by invoice date is as follows: mr
2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET TET
1 to 90 days 1290k 186,351 194,155
91 to 180 days 91£180K 30,494 42,644
181 to 365 days 181E365K 3,465 2,242
Over 365 days B iB365K 2,289 2,740
222,599 241,781
Less: Provision for impairment of receivables L TE U RR FOR B B (7,856) (5,148)
214,743 236,633

As at 31st March, 2012, trade receivables of
HK$176,922,000 (2011: HK$192,848,000) were fully
performing. HK$36,165,000 (2011: HK$41,597,000) were
past due but
HK$34,369,000 were overdue less than 90 days and
HK$1,796,000 were overdue between 90 and 180 days.

These relate to a number of independent customers for

not considered impaired, of which

whom there is no recent history of default. Trade
receivables of HK$7,856,000 (2011: HK$5,148,000) were
considered impaired and provided for. The amount of the
provision was HK$7,856,000 as at 31st March, 2012 (2011:
HK$5,148,000).

R-E——F=ZA=Z+-—H BS5EUER
176,922,000/ 7t (=& — — 4F : 192,848,000/

JL) AR BE S B 1T 36,165,0008 L (= &
— —F 141,597,000 L) EMBAERELE
A - H A B $E34,369,0000% 7T B @ Hi 4 5290
X+ 5 4M,796,0007 st E 1 HI90E 180K * %
EXESROATEBRARBEZZE2BIYER
F - 5 & W Bk 77,856,000 T (=T — —
5,148,000 70) MR R E R B VEH B E -
R-ZZT——F=ZA=+—8 REEHES
7,856,000/ 7T * (= & — — F : 5,148,000/
JT) °
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20 Trade and bill receivables, prepayments and
deposits (Continued)

The Group’s trade and bill receivables were denominated

in the following currencies:

Hong Kong dollar BT
United States dollar e
Chinese Renminbi AR
Singapore dollar N T
Others Hity

Movements in the provision for impairment of trade

receivables are as follows:

Bt 5 3R R M &

20 ESRBERRRE BARE
RS ()
AREE 2 B 5 MR R R R R T S A5 -

2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT TR
56,500 48,671
91,923 98,078
44,620 61,595
15,371 17,014
14,185 16,423
222,599 241,781

BHRURFRERG 2 EBHNT

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Beginning of the year F 4] 5,148 16,162
Provision for/(write-back of) impairment of trade & Uz B8R ZUR B B & (18] )

receivables 2,678 (10,968)

Receivables written off during the year as F AR IR B 2 FE U

uncollectible R T 8 (119) (303)

Translation adjustment E 5 & 149 257

End of the year FE R 7,856 5,148

The creation and release of the provision for impairment
of trade receivables have been included in general and
administrative expenses in the consolidated income

statement.

The other classes within trade and bill receivables,

prepayments and deposits do not contain impaired assets.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date

is the fair value of each class of receivables mentioned

above. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

B o REERFORER A LB R BERES IR
SR BRRITREAS T AR -

REZGREEFRRER BANFEARKRESS
MEMENETEEERERE -

SETEElE
HERE
KR

77

b sEEKREFRNEREERR
DR - A& B IR KA E A K S

vk
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22

Derivative financial instruments

Bt 5 3R R M &

21 fT44£@IA

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHxT FHT

Interest-rate swaps FEBEE L 2,536 3,349

The Group has an outstanding interest rate swap contract
with notional principal amount of HK$50,000,000 (2011:
HK$50,000,000) to swap floating rate borrowing to fixed
interest rate. As at 31st March, 2012 and 2011, the fixed
interest rate was 3.73% and the floating rate was Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate.

Bank balances and cash

AEBDALENF XIEREONRTEAS
%8 /550,000,000 7T (= & — — 4 : 50,000,000
BIT) BRI REZ B A R HAEE E K o
RZE—ZFR=ZTE——F=ZRA=+—8"
FEREPHEOUBTERTRAERSIERZ
F - ME]EEE R K A3TIE -

22 HITHEEFERHES

Group Company
58 A
2012 2011 2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FHET FET FET
Cash at bank and in hand WITRFERE 181,452 167,803 278 777
Short-term bank deposits HHSR T 3K 28,975 28,942 — —
210,427 196,745 278 777
Maximum exposure to smEERE
credit risk 209,349 194,977 278 775

As at 31st March, 2012, the effective interest rate on cash
at bank, short-term bank deposits was 0.1% (2011: 0.25%).
The short-term bank deposits have an average maturity of
4 months (2011: 4.5 months).

RZE——F=—A=+—8 RITFH -EH
ROGERZERNEAFBROIE(ZE ——
F:025E)  WERBRITERFHEEA
BMEAR(ZZ——F :45@A) -
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22 Bank balances and cash (Continued) 22 B|ITHEFRAE (H)
Bank balances and cash were denominated in the BITHEEFRRASTIRATERSIE
following currencies:
Group Company
£8 AT
2012 2011 2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FHET FHET FET
Hong Kong dollar BT 37,468 22,380 278 777
Chinese Renminbi N 59,922 78,227 — —
United States dollar ESViH 61,681 53,002 — —
Euro BX 7T 5,396 2,481 — —
Singapore dollar Ny o 39,811 38,483 — —
Others H 6,149 2,172 — —
210,427 196,745 278 777
The Group’s cash and cash equivalents denominated in REFBUARKINBE RS EBES2EENAT
Renminbi are deposited with banks in Mainland China. MRPEZEIT - BAREHBRE SINE LE
The conversion of these Chinese Renminbi denominated HAPEBESTFEARLMBEETESZINE
balances into foreign currencies and the remittance of & w38 Bl N 4B I BE i o
funds out of Mainland China is subject to the foreign
exchange control rules and regulations promulgated by the
Government of The People’s Republic of China.
For the purpose of cash flow statements, cash and cash HEeREXTHRENBELEEBRETY
equivalents include the followings:
2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Cash at bank and in hand RITRFERE 181,452 167,803
Short-term bank deposits with maturity DPR=MEAEEHz
less than 3 months BEIRITIER 8,065 10,540
Bank overdrafts (note 23) $R1738 = (M #E23) (8,707) (3,098)
180,810 175,245
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23

Borrowings 23 BE

2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FET
Long-term bank loans (Note) REIRITER (M) 140,124 126,592
Short-term bank loans HHEISRITE X 46,903 37,859
Trust receipts import bank loans SR WIBEEDORTER 35,858 46,844
Bank overdrafts RITEX 8,707 3,098
231,592 214,393

Less: amounts due within one year shown under & : 3| AREBBEZ —FR
current liabilities B H Tk B (202,225) (168,832)
Non-current portion JE BN H7 2B 17 29,367 45,561
Note:  As at 31st March, 2012, the Group had long term bank loans of fax: RZT-Z_F=ZA=+—F AKEH64577,000%8

approximately HK$64,577,000 breached certain financial covenants

THERRTEREREREENE THBBAL

of the loan facilities and have been reclassified as current liabilities. EEHAERRDALME-

The borrowings are repayable as follows:

MEZIHBENOT :

2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FET
Wholly payable within 5 years 2HENEFERNEER 211,196 214,116
Wholly payable after 5 years EHENROFRER 20,396 277
231,592 214,393

The borrowings are repayable as follows: BEZHBMBENT
2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Within 1 year —FE R 134,649 144,486
Between 1 and 2 years — 3 4 33,129 33,991
Between 2 and 5 years —ERF 52,754 35,874
Over 5 years BidAF 11,060 42
231,592 214,393
The above amounts due are based on the scheduled FRFEZINHERBRBERAORELAT
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements and ignore FZEFBH RIETEEEEKEERGK

the effect of any repayment on demand clause.

ZRE-
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23  Borrowings (Continued) 23 mE(#E)

The carrying amounts of bank borrowings were RITREZREETIRATERFIE
denominated in the following currencies:

2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT TR
Hong Kong dollar BT 159,872 166,529
Chinese Renminbi ARE 47,132 37,199
United States dollar ETT 4,436 10,660
Singapore dollar #nsE T — 5
Malaysian ringgit HRAEDRIT 20,152 —
231,592 214,393
The effective interest rates (per annum) at the end of NPERFTH P ERERNENT :
reporting period were as follows:
2012 2011
HK$ RMB Us$ RM HK$ RMB Us$

BT AR® Zn BRALRT o AR# e

Long-term bank loans RBBTEN 2.28% 6.35% — 4.30% 2.13% 5.76% —
Short-term bank loans RERITER 5.00% 7.19% — — 2.26% 5.82% —
Trust receipts import bank loans ERREEORTER 5.02% — 5.23% — 4.63% — 5.75%
Bank overdrafts BITEX 5.39% — — — 5.11% — —
The carrying amounts of the borrowings approximate their BmECERENAEANTE-

fair values.

Details of the banking facilities available to the Group and NEFBRTEREEEELEEEMAAHN

pledge of assets are disclosed in note 32. B FE32 ©
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24 Trade and bill payables 24 BEZENRRREE
The ageing of trade and bill payables is as follows: EORNERREEREKDOT :
2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT TR
1 to 90 days 1E90K 99,025 133,877
91 to 180 days 91E180K 9,652 18,312
181 to 365 days 181E365K 1,605 2,187
Over 365 days B 365K 332 597
110,614 154,973

The Group’s trade and bill payables were denominated in

the following currencies:

FEEZEGRNERRZBRATIEEINE

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$'000

FER FAET

Hong Kong dollar T 46,779 57,262
Chinese Renminbi AREE 49,664 71,008
United States dollar ESViH 3,233 7,981
Others Hity 10,938 18,722
110,614 154,973




126 | NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt % 3R & Mf 5%

25 Deferred income tax 25 EEEFTEHR
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is MABEEAATHEMNBRAHRBEERR
a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets ENMEREYE BRTEMENEEREE
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred AERE—VREERNEERFREERE
income tax assets and liabilities relate to income tax HAMEBERBITRERNEEBEWORAED -
levied by same taxation authority on either the taxable AEEMSHREELB B EREH FR
entity or different taxable entities where there is an R

intention to settle the balances on a net basis. The net

amounts are as follows:

2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Deferred tax assets BEEFTSMEE (2,178) (2,548)
Deferred tax liabilities BIEFTSRAE 10,581 12,963
Deferred tax liabilities, net EEFTEREEFHE 8,403 10,415
The net movements in the deferred tax account are as FEEFERFE2EHFBENOT :
follows:
2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Beginning of the year F) 10,415 6,332
(Credited)/charged to income statement (note 11) R Ugzssk (5t A) /% (ME11) (1,930) 3,799
Translation adjustments E AR (82) 284
End of the year F R 8,403 10,415
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities EEFREHEERBEZZFH (A RAENE
without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances — R EREE) T
within the same tax jurisdiction are as follows:
Deferred tax assets: BELEREHREE:
Tax losses Provisions Total
BERE B @it
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
T TET TR TET TR TET

Beginning of the year F4) 876 3,374 2,624 5,806 3,500 9,180
Credited/(charged) to income statement R U z5 5%

A (0BR) (896) (2,498) 649 (3,329 (247) (5,827)
Translation adjustments ERRE 20 — 63 147 83 147

End of the year R — 876 3,336 2,624 3,336 3,500
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25 Deferred income tax (Continued)

Bt 5 3R R M &

25 EEFREH (&)

Deferred tax liabilities: ELEFMEHEME:
Accelerated taxation
depreciation
IEBEITE
2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT &L
Beginning of the year F9 13,915 15,512
Credited to income statement Rz R FEA (2,177) (2,028)
Translation adjustment E R 1 431
End of the year F 4R 11,739 13,915

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets of
approximately HK$23,692,000 (2011: HK$20,354,000) in
respect of tax losses and deductible temporary differences
as it is not probable that the deferred tax assets can be
utilised. Out of the total, approximately HK$15,457,000
(2011: HK$15,440,000) in respect of tax losses can be
carried forward indefinitely to set off against future taxable
income and the remaining tax losses of approximately
HK$5,171,000 will expire in 2016. The estimated tax
losses are subject to approval by the relevant tax

authorities.

Pursuant to the Detailed Implementation Regulations for
implementation of the Corporate Income Tax Law issued
on 6th December, 2007, withholding income tax of 10%
shall be levied on the dividends remitted by the
companies established in the PRC to their foreign investors
starting from Tst January, 2008. A lower withholding tax
rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between China
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. All dividends
coming from the profits generated by the PRC companies
after 1 January 2008 shall be subject to this withholding
income tax. As at 31st March, 2012, the Group has not
accrued withholding income tax for the earnings of
HK$10,595,000 (2011: HK$11,589,000) of its PRC

subsidiaries because the Group does not have a plan to

distribute these earnings from its PRC subsidiaries.

HECHEHREETSWER  AEE W AR
REARBREEBRIIMRE R EEZOELMR
18T & E #923,692,00008 TT(Z & — — F:
20,354,000/ jT) c B E P BB EE L
15,457,0007 7t (=& — —4F : 15,440,000/ JT)
A DA fE (R HA 45 83 LUK S5 R R FE R B U - H 84
RS E 1B 45,171,000 T ER T — A FE
WA RBERICAR G EEREN
=4 -

BE_ZTZLtF+ A NBBEGNFEAR
HMBECEMBBEERED RZTZN
F—RA—BFHB MARFBEKINLEY
BEIMEE B DR EEBABBI0%TEIRATEH ©
a0 rR B ER B AR A 5 B B M (R BT B S IR
2 —ERENERASHEESEA -ME
RABERKIHNEES RS NF—A—H
EHRDAOMNEORE BRI TBIRAGH -
RZE——FZA=Z+—HB AEBAIXHR
£ B AR S 9 BT BB 2 &) iR EX /910,595,000 7T
—Z——%F :11,589,000% 7r) Fl M &2 E {7
TBRAEHR BAEEWETE 5 IKEFRE
B ST RO B B A &) EY A o
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26 Share capital 26 BR#&
2012 2012 2011 2011
Number of Nominal Number of Nominal
shares value shares value
RHHE HE fetr g B HI{E
‘000 HK$’000 ‘000 HK$'000
T THET TR FET
Authorised — ETERA —
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 SREE.TE T
each 2 EEAR 1,000,000 100,000 1,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid — BBETRHRE —
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 FR®E.TE T
each: 2 EBR
Beginning of the year F ) 525,135 52,514 523,975 52,398
Issue of shares upon exercise 171 (& 8 5 i &
of share options mEITHRD — — 1,160 116
End of the year F R 525,135 52,514 525,135 52,514
27 Employee share options 27 REEBEKRE

In 2002, the Company adopted an employee share option
scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”). Under the Share
Option Scheme, the Company may grant options to
employees (including Executive Directors of the Company)
to subscribe for shares in the Company, subject to a
maximum of 30% of the nominal value of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time excluding for
this purpose any shares issued on the exercise of options.
The exercise price will be determined by the Company’s
board of directors and shall be at least the highest of (i)
the closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of
grant of the options, (ii) an average closing price of the
Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the options, and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s shares of HK$0.1 each.

The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to

repurchase or settle the options in cash.

RZBE-F ARARN—EEBRES
B ([RER Rt &) - RIBE IS B AR AR
MET(BEADR ZHITESR) R HBERE
NRBEARARD MABRTZROBRS
RARAIAEDEHTRND 230%  BETEE
AiTEEhEmETZRN -RBERAR
AzEEREE MIAAERATZEREZ&
2EORRERHARF RN 2 WTHE (i)
AARBEMAEERERE A AMEXA
Bt S U ¢ R AR 7 B fn 2 E (B
FROVET) AEBATEEFTHEEEED
BRUARSIT U FERRE -
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27 Employee share options (Continued) 27 EEBREGE
Movements in the number of share options outstanding M ARITEEREN B RABETEES IR
and their related weighted average exercise prices are as EHEEBHMT
follows:
2012 2011
Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise price share options exercise price share options
THEE B TTEE B e
IR H BB INEFHH #E
HK$ HK$
BT BT
At Tst April REA—A 0.385 23,020,000 0.385 24,180,000
Exercised (Note (a)) 178 (i EE ) — — 0.385  (1,160,000)
Lapsed KK 0.385 (3,500,000) —
At 31st March R=A=+—H 0.385 19,520,000 0.385 23,020,000
Share options outstanding at 31st March, 2012 have the RZF-ZHF=ZA=1+ - BHRTENER
following exercise dates, expiry dates and exercise prices: EONTEREY BB RTEENT
First exercise date Expiry dates Exercise price  Number of share options
BRITEARS &% B TEE BRERE
HK$ 2012 2011
BT
21st January, 2009 20th January, 2013 0.385 2,970,000 3,320,000
—ZEENF—-A=-1+—H —FE-=%—A=+H
1st August, 2009 20th January, 2013 0.385 5,650,000 6,700,000
—ZZAFNA—R —E—=%—A=tH
1st August, 2010 20th January, 2013 0.385 5,450,000 6,500,000
—T-ZTFN\A—H —T—=F—A=+H
1st August, 2011 20th January, 2013 0.385 5,450,000 6,500,000
—Z2——%\A—H —E-=%—-A=+H
19,520,000 23,020,000
As at 31st March, 2012, 19,520,000 (2011: 16,520,000) RZE——F=ZA=Z+—HUTENERE
share options were exercisable. #H A19,520,000 (ZZF——4F : 16,520,000) °
Note: W &
() No share options were exercised in 2012. (a) R ——FUETRBERERTE-
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28 Reserves

Group
As at Tst April, 2010

Profit attributable to the equity holders of
the Company
Other comprehensive income
— Increase in fair value of
available-for-sale financial assets
— Currency translation differences

Total comprehensive income for
the year

Employee share option scheme
— Issue of shares upon exercise of
employee share options
— Share based payments
Dividends paid

As at 31st March, 2011

Representing:
— Proposed dividend
— Others

As at Tst April, 2011

Loss attributable to the equity holders of
the Company
Other comprehensive income
— Decrease in fair value of
available-for-sale financial assets
— Currency translation differences

Total comprehensive loss for
the year

Employee share option scheme
— Lapse of share options
— Share based payments
Dividends paid

As at 3Tst March, 2012

Representing:
— Proposed dividend
— Others

“F-3FMA-A
R R AR E A

At 2E RS
— AHHENKE
EZRAFEEMN
—EAZE

FRRENELR

EEBBETE
— TR EEBRE
mETHRS

— Rty Ee
BRERE

RZFE-——F=A=+—H
K

— RERE
— Efth

RZZ-——FMA—A

ARFREEHAARGEER

R 2Ek
— HRERHAEL
AFEH D
—ExzE
FR2EEALE
REMBEHE
— BRAER
— RiEHME
AR

R-ZFE-—F=A=+—H

R
— BERE
—Ef

Bt 5 3R R M &

28 f#fE
Share-based
Share Capital compensation Investment Translation  Retained
premium  reserve reserve  reserve  reserve profits Total
REGE#HE

ROBE BEXEE RE RERE EXRRE ROEA am
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FiEn FET FiEn FET FiEn FET
127,404 1,169 2,150 515 37,682 323,450 492,370
— — — — — 25,060 25,060

— — — 182 — — 182

— — — — 25,738 — 25,738

— — — 182 25,738 25,060 50,980

392 — (61) — — — 331

- — 33 — - — 33

— — — — — (13,111 (13,111)

392 — (28) 182 25,738 11,949 38,233
127,796 1,169 2,122 697 63,420 335399 530,603
- - - - - 7,877 7,877
127,796 1,169 2,122 697 63,420 327,522 522,726
127,796 1,169 2,122 697 63,420 335399 530,603
127,796 1,169 2,122 697 63,420 335399 530,603
— — — — — (24125 (24,125)

— — — (33) — — (33)

— — — — 9314 — 9314

— — — (33) 9,314 (24,125)  (14,844)

— — (184) — - 184 -

— — 4 — — — 4

— — — — — (13,128)  (13,128)

— — (180) (33) 9,314 (37,009) (27,968
127,796 1,169 1,942 664 72,734 298330 502,635
— — - — — 5,251 5,251
127,796 1,169 1,942 064 72,734 293,079 497,384
127,796 1,169 1,942 064 72,734 298,330 502,635




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  Bf # 3R 3R Bf 5% 131
28 Reserves (Continued) 28 f&fE (M)
Share-based
Share Capital compensation Retained
premium reserve reserve profits Total
IR 10 B &
IR 4 35 & BARRE 3] REEF i
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FTET FTET FERT FTERT
Company AT
As at Tst April, 2010 R-Z—ZEWMA—H 127,404 520 2,150 9,975 140,049
Profit for the year F R F — — — 24,678 24,678
Employee share option scheme EEEREE
— lIssue of shares upon — TEEEBLRE
exercise of employee i 347 & I £
share options 392 — (61) — 331
— Share based payments — BRHXA#ME — — 33 — 33
Dividends paid BRRE — — — (13,111) (13,111)
As at 31st March, 2011 R-E——&=f=+—-A 127,796 520 2,122 21,542 151,980
Representing: RE:
— Proposed dividend — BIRRE — — — 7,877 7,877
— Others —H 127,796 520 2,122 13,665 144,103
127,796 520 2,122 21,542 151,980
As at Tst April, 2011 R-ZE——FmMA—A 127,796 520 2,122 21,542 151,980
Profit for the year F R Fl — — — 7,767 7,767
Employee share option scheme EEBREE
— Lapse of share options — BB RN — — (184) 184 —
— Share based payments — R AME — — 4 — 4
Dividends paid B e — — — (13,128) (13,128)
As at 31st March, 2012 RZT——%=A=+—H 127,796 520 1,942 16,365 146,623
Representing: &
— Proposed dividend — BIRRE — — — 5,251 5,251
— Others — Hith 127,796 520 1,942 11,114 141,372
127,796 520 1,942 16,365 146,623
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29 Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement 29 #HERESHEB XK=
(a)  Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before income tax to @@ BRBA(ER)CRAELEEKEELR
cash generated from operations: EZ2Ek:
2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET TET
(Loss)/profit before income tax K& AT (E518) 5 A (20,613) 37,048
Adjustments for: KT A
— Interest income — FEWA (422) (357)
— Interest expense — MEXH 9,205 9,908
— Amortisation of land use rights — b AR 744 712
— Depreciation of property, plant and — E - -BERREREZ
equipment e 65,880 63,274
— Net losses on disposal of property, — HEYVE BEELREZ
plant and equipment B1EF R 51 10
— Provision for/(write-back of) impairment —E BERZEZ
of property, plant and equipment HERE(E#) 27,755 (392)
— Fair value gains on foreign — EHINEENZ
exchange forward contracts A EW — (66)
— Fair value gain on interest-rate swaps — MEEHEH 2
N EW R (814) (152)
— Provision for/(write-back of) impairment — FEURBR FURE
of receivables B (BB 2,678 (10,968)
— (Write-back of)/provision for inventory — FERE(EE) &
obsolescence (546) 2,823
— Share based payments — B AEe 4 33
— Foreign exchange (gains)/losses — EX (W), wia (1,871) 1,202
82,051 103,075
Changes in working capital EEESET
(excluding effects of translation adjustments) (‘RN EIEE N FAEHN T L)
— Inventories —FE 36,606 (12,864)
— Trade and bill receivables — BHRWERKER 19,212 (15,104)
— Prepayments and deposits — ERRERRS (2,878) 983
— Trade and bill payables — BHRMNERRER (44,359) (25,705)
— Accruals and other payables — BB EREMENRK 6,801 10,218
Net cash generated from operations KEXBEEZRSFE 97,433 60,603
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29 Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement 29 HS&HREREBRHET (&)
(Continued)
(b)  In the cash flow statement, proceeds from disposal b)) RIRERERRN HEVE BEERX
of property, plant and equipment comprise: BT RARLE
2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEX FET
Net book value BREFE 51 63
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE BEKZE
equipment ) F ] (51) (10)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEWE  BENLEE
and equipment Z P A — 53
30 Commitments 30 RIE
(@) Capital commitments (@ BEAREE
Capital expenditure of the Group at the end of REBRBEFERBEFTHNEINRTA
reporting period contracted but not yet provided for ZEARBEZIOT
is as follows:
Group
£=
2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Machinery 28 215 695
Furniture and equipment R R 3% A 255 1,878
Construction in progress EEITRE 10,526 —

10,996 2,573
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30 Commitments (Continued)

(b)

Operating lease commitments
The Group had future aggregate minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases of

land and buildings, as follows:

Bt %5 3R M &

30 RIE(E)
(b) KREHERE
AEEBBETAEN BRI WRET
MBS ARSEREFRREMNT -

Group

£=
2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FET

Amounts payable E&EH
— within one year — —FUR 19,683 16,499
— later than one year but no later than — BB —FELREEF

five years 12,171 17,451
31,854 33,950

Generally, the Group’s operating leases are for terms

of 1 to 5 years.

31 Financial guarantees
As at 31st March, 2012, the Company had provided

guarantees in respect of banking facilities of its subsidiaries
amounting to approximately HK$445,345,000 (2011:
HK$576,209,000). The facilities utilised by the subsidiaries
as at 3Tst March, 2012 amounted to approximately
HK$234,411,000 (2011: HK$222,126,000).

AEENEEREFH-—RA—FER
o

31 HMBER
RZE—ZF=ZA=+—H ARapgsT
MEARMBERITEEEEMBMHQFAER
#9445,345,0007 7T (ZZF — — 4 : 576,209,000
B R-_E——&HE=ZA=Z+—BE&HMER
A2 B A 2 R1715 B 58 E 49234,411,000% 7T
(ZZ——%:222,126,0007 JT) °
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32

33

Bt %5 3R M &

Banking facilities and pledge of assets 32 BITFEREREERN

As at 31st March, 2012, the Group had aggregate banking RZTE—ZF=ZA=+—B ~A5EEERH

facilities of approximately HK$826,796,000 (2011: ZEX BR EIRERBITERSRIE

HK$622,355,000) for overdrafts, loans, trade financing and B 8 % #9826,796,0008 (= T — — & :

bank guarantees. Unused facilities as at the same date 622,355,000/ 7C) - RAIB WA E A ZERITE

amounted to approximately HK$585,860,000 (2011: B # #)585,860,00008 T(= T — — F:

HK$361,469,000). These facilities were secured by: 361,469,000 7T) « WERITEEHE 2 HA W

T

() mortgages over the Group’s land and buildings with () AEELHWEREFEE HLKREFE
a total net book value of approximately #74,104,000% 7t (ZF — — 4 : 4,220,000
HK$4,104,000 (2011: HK$4,220,000) (note 16(c)); 7 (MiFE16(0))

(i) floating charges over the Group’s inventories held (i) ANEBIRETWIBEEDRTERTHN
under trust receipts import bank loan arrangements ¥ 2 & THFEEL35858,0008 T (ZF
of approximately HK$35,858,000 (2011: ——4F : 46,844,000/ 7T) (M 5E19) + &
HK$46,844,000) (note 19); and

(iii)  guarantees provided by the Company and certain of (i) ARBREETHEARIFTIRMEZER -
its subsidiaries.

Related party transactions 33 BEALZXRS

As at 31st March, 2012, Mr. Lam Kwong Yu and his R-_TE——F=ZA=+—"H MXwxtsExr

spouse beneficially owned approximately 40.17% of the HEBIF A AR A 44017%0 E BRI D o

Company’s ordinary shares. Ms. Yeung Chui beneficially BRLTHBERRBLN7.87%H E @RS

owned approximately 17.87% of the Company’s ordinary MEERBRE A AEARNRAIES -

shares. Both Mr. Lam and Ms. Yeung are directors of the

Company.

(@ Particulars of significant transactions between @ AXEEHEHBEATETZEERS
the Group and related parties HBEOT :

2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FET
Operating lease rentals expenses KEHEHEHSER
— Ms. Yeung Chui (Note (i) — H R L (i) 66 63

Gain on disposal of trademark HEBEZEN KR — 225
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(@

(b)

33 Related party transactions (Continued)

Particulars of significant transactions between

the Group and related parties (Continued)

(i) The Group entered into an operating lease
agreement with Ms. Yeung Chui, a director of
the Company. The transaction was carried out
in the wusual course of business, and in
accordance with the terms of the contract
entered into by the Group and the related

party.

Key management compensation

Bt %5 3R M &

33 BEALZXRS (#)
(@ AEEHBEALETZEERS

HEMT : (E)

() AEBEBBLL AADZE
FAIELERERH LR
SHUE—MEBER  RIELE
EEBEATEITARZ Gt
7o

by FTEEBASHMEENS

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Basic salaries, allowances and others HAH MR EM 8,392 10,828
Discretionary bonus B HRTE ZEAL 842 656
Pension costs — defined contribution plans R{KE A — R E M2 165 204
Share-based payments & 17 3 A+ Bl & — 15

9,399 11,703
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